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Thursday, August 25, 2005

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to those who haven't been here before.


Today is the ninth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will begin the examination of the panel on corporate cost allocation.  We will take a break at 10:30 and lunch around 12:15.


Are there any preliminary matters this morning?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

MR. THOMPSON:  I have two, Madam Chairman.  The first relates to a document that the company has been kind enough to obtain and provide to me.  It's a confidential document and should be marked as such.


It's the confidential undertaking J21.1 that is referenced in the Board's 2002‑0133 decision in the part of it pertaining to the CWLP issue.  That's been provided to me by Mr. Burke, and I would like to have that marked, if I could, and distributed it to those who signed the undertaking document.


MS. NOWINA:  Are you going to be using that document this morning, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, I'm not.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Can we assign it an exhibit number?


MR. BATTISTA:  We'll mark that as X9.1.  It's reference J ‑‑ undertaking J21.1 from 2003 test case.

EXHIBIT NO. X9.1:  UNDERTAKING J21.1 FROM 2003 TEST CASE

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, 2002‑0133 proceedings, which I think is the 2003 test year.


The second item, Madam Chair, is with respect to my cross‑examination yesterday.  Mr. Battista was kind enough to bring this to my attention.  At page 106 of yesterday's transcript, I got into some language that had been added to the rate -310 and -315 rate schedule.  It was the subject of an interrogatory by IGUA, Interrogatory No. 93.  


Mr. Battista reminded me that that topic fell within the changes to rate handbook issue, which had been settled, and my client is a party to the settlement, so I ‑‑ you can disregard the discussion in the transcript there, please, and I just note that had I stopped there, I would have finished on time.


MS. NOWINA:  A lesson for all of us, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, would you like to introduce your panel?


MR. CASS:  Actually, Madam Chair, the reason for my presence this morning was to deal, if necessary, with Mr. Thompson's preliminary matters.  It's not necessary for me to say anything on those.


Ms. Persad will look after the corporate cost allocation witness panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Ms. Persad, would you like to introduce your panel?


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes, I would.


Seated at the witness table, then, is the first of three witness panels that the company will be bringing forward for this issue of corporate cost allocations.  Because there are so many services, it was necessary to bring a number of witnesses to speak to those services.


So the way the panels are constituted - and intervenors were advised of this early in the scheduling process, and most recently on Monday of this week - the first two panels are comprised of the executives from Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc. who are responsible for the provision of and the receipt of the services, the corporate services.


Now, in this regard, I will refer you briefly to Exhibit K6.4 that was filed in this proceeding, and this is entitled the "2006 Test Year O&M Budget Work Sheet".


Just to give you a better idea of what these panels will be speaking to ...


MS. NOWINA:  We have it, Ms. Persad.


MS. PERSAD:  Column 11 of this work sheet points out the corporate cost allocations that are included in the company's O&M budget to which this panel will be speaking.  The rest of the O&M panels that the company will be bringing forward will, in fact, speak to column 12 of this exhibit.


Then, finally, the third panel for this issue will be comprised of the consultants from Deloitte & Touche, as well as a representative from Enbridge Gas Distribution and one from Enbridge Inc. that were involved in the development of the methodology itself and were the key links with Deloitte & Touche on the project.


So in order to assist the Board with identifying the responsible witnesses for the particular services, I have just prepared a table of the services that these witnesses are responsible for, and I propose to hand that out and file it as an exhibit.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that Exhibit No. K9.1, table of panel witnesses.


EXHIBIT NO. K9.1:  TABLE OF PANEL WITNESSES

MS. PERSAD:  So to introduce the first witness panel, then, closest to the Board is Ms. Bonnie DuPont, who is the group VP of corporate resources for Enbridge Inc.  Then we have Mr. Scott Player, VP of finance for Enbridge Gas Distribution; Mr. Mike Mees, currently the director of customer care, formerly the director of planning and governance when this evidence was prepared; Mr. Colin Gruending, the VP and controller of Enbridge Inc.; Mr. David Brown, the director of controllers' projects for Enbridge Inc.  And just on Mr. Brown's behalf, I just want to state that he has a bad back, so it won't be an act of protest if he stands during the proceedings.  


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly, Mr. Brown, whatever makes you comfortable.


MS. PERSAD:  Finally, but not least, Mr. Brad Boyle, who is with the treasury group Enbridge Inc.  If I could ask that the witnesses be sworn in?


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 5:

Bonnie DuPont; Sworn


Scott Player; Sworn

Mike Mees; Sworn


Colin Gruending; Sworn


David Brown; Sworn


Brad Boyle; Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MS. PERSAD:
     MS. PERSAD:  Mr. Mees, the evidence in relation to this issue, corporate cost allocations is found at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1 and includes the related interrogatories that I won't list.  On behalf of the panel, can you confirm that this evidence was prepared by you, or under your direction?  

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I can.  Yes, it was prepared by us.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And is the evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, it is.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Mr. Mees, what are you seeking the Board's approval of, with respect to this issue? 

     MR. MEES:  The company is seeking the Board's approval for the costs the company has included in the O&M budget for corporate services from Enbridge Inc.  

     These amounts were calculated using the company's regulatory-cost-allocation methodology, or RCAM, for recovery in 2006 rates.  

     The company is also seeking the Board's determination that the RCAM allocates costs for corporate services appropriately to Enbridge Gas Distribution.   

     MS. PERSAD:  And could you explain for the Board what the RCAM is, and how it came about.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I wanted to provide a brief background on how we got to where we are today.  

     Enbridge Gas Distribution has been receiving services from the corporate office at Enbridge Inc. for several years.  Prior to 2003, the charges for these amounts - or the “management fee”, as it was then called - were based upon a negotiation of the agreed-upon amount between the corporate office and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     In 2002, Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Gas Distribution and the other Enbridge affiliates, developed a corporate cost-allocation methodology we called “CAM”, in order to identify the costs associated with the provision of the corporate services more precisely, and to allocate the costs fairly amongst the various affiliates benefiting from these services.  

     The company brought forward cost-allocation methodology, CAM, for consideration in the 2003 rate case.  So that was RP-2002-0133.   

     In that case, the Board directed the company to obtain an independent review of the corporate cost-allocation methodology and the inter-company services agreement.  This review was to assess how the cost allocation compares with past Board decisions, and how it complies with the Affiliate Relationships Code.  

     As a result of the findings, the company, in consultation with the intervenors, engaged Deloitte & Touche to conduct an independent evaluation of CAN.  Deloitte's report was filed as part of the RP-2003-0203 rate case.    

     In its report, Deloitte made a number of recommendations arising from the independent evaluation.  Most of these recommendations were agreed upon and implemented by the company.  One of the primary recommendations was to develop a cost-allocation methodology that was service-based.  This was different than CAM, which was based upon the budgets of various Enbridge Inc. departments that were providing the services.  

     In Deloitte's opinion, since CAM was not a service-based approach, it was difficult to properly assess the charges using the Board's three-prong test set out in EBRO-493 and -494, and to ensure that the costs met the requirements for the Affiliate Relationship Code.  

     In addition, as CAM was not service-based, nor time-based approach, Deloitte did not have the information to properly determine the amount of costs to be allocated from the corporate office.  And, therefore, they had to make assumptions to determine the appropriate recommendation for inclusion in 2005 rates.  It is these assumptions that Enbridge did not fully accept.  

     The company accepted Deloitte's suggested service-based approach.  And the company realized that, to develop a new service-based methodology, they needed some outside assistance, and asked Deloitte to assist them with the development of a corporate cost-allocation methodology that would satisfy the OEB's requirements.  

     It was out of this work that the current service-based model, represented by RCAM, was developed.  And this has been adopted by the company for regulatory purposes.   

     MS. PERSAD:  And, panel, on what basis is the company seeking approval for an amount for corporate cost-allocations that exceeds the 2005 settled-upon amount? 

     MR. MEES:  First, the company agreed, for settlement in 2005, to recover $13.5 million for corporate cost allocation.  This was the amount based upon Deloitte's recommendation in their evaluative report of CAM, in 2004.  As I stated, the company accepted the amount, but did have some concerns with how the amount was calculated.  

     CAM was not service-based with time support.  And Deloitte had to make some assumptions to convert the department costs into services, so that the amount could be calculated to be included in 2005 rates.  

     The total recommendation was based upon insufficient information to determine the actual amounts appropriate for recovery.  This will be confirmed by Deloitte in the third panel.  

     This is why a comparison to last year is like comparing apples to oranges.  In the end, the shareholder took the hit for the amounts not recovered.  The ratepayer benefited for not paying the full amount for the services they received.  However, RCAM is a rigorous, service-based approach using time, which provides the more detailed information to support and satisfy the Board's requirements.  And Deloitte witnesses will describe this more fully on the third panel.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And how were the services actually determined for the RCAM, and what roles did Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc. play in determining those services? 

     MR. MEES:  The process for development of the services is outlined in Deloitte's evaluative report found at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2, within section 4.  I'm not asking you to turn this up, at this point:  it's just -- for your reference, again, it’s Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2.  

     What I was going to do is provide a brief summary of the process.  

     The first step in the process was that interviews were conducted by Deloitte -- each cost-centre manager at the corporate office.  These interviews included interviews with individuals on this panel, today.  These interviews were used to determine the activities performed, and then these activities were then consolidated into services by Deloitte.  The corporate office of Enbridge Inc. was asked, again, for their input, until Deloitte was satisfied with the draft service schedules. 

     So, once we had these draft service schedules, the service recipients at Enbridge Gas Distribution were then asked to validate and confirm these services and service descriptions.  This included Enbridge Gas Distribution service recipients represented on this panel, today.  

     Once the services were finalized, the time-estimation study was conducted, and this time study was a large undertaking that involved virtually everybody in the corporate office.  So, in addition to the time estimates, appropriate allocators were determined by Deloitte and agreed to by Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc. personnel.  So both the time estimates and the allocators were used to fully load the costs -- fully load these services appropriately.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And panel, did the Enbridge Gas Distribution folks involved with these services have an opportunity, then, to review the costs of the services, and whether those costs were, at least, equitable to the services received? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, there was a number of changes that were made to the services after the review of the service recipients.  

     There were changes to the amount of time for a service.  There was a rejection of services out-right by departments.  And there was corrections to the model that were picked up after review. 

     I'm not going to list all of the changes that were made, as they're just too numerous.  The changes to time estimates, though, are shown in table 1 of Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 21.  As I said, I'm not going to mention all of them, but I did want to make you aware -- just to sort of give you an idea of some of the changes that happened.  So there is a couple of examples.  

     Prior to the finalization of RCAM, Enbridge Gas Distribution rejected the business-development service for a number of departments, including planning and development in the corporate office.  Another example is, the time estimates for the rate-regulators support service were changed after review by the service recipients.  This resulted in a reduction of the allocated amount by almost 50 percent.  As I indicated, those are just two examples of many.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And why has Enbridge Gas Distribution chosen to receive these services from Enbridge Inc., and not from some other party, or to perform them internally? 

     MR. PLAYER:  The easy response to that question, Madam Chair, is that, I believe, Enbridge Inc., being the parent of Enbridge Gas Distribution, it is very typical for a corporate office to provide services of these kinds of functions accessible to subsidiary companies  by their -- by the corporate owner.  

   
However, that would only be part of the story, because most of these services that have either governance function or a funding treasury-type focus, there's really no other realistic provider available for those kind of services.


Now, on the other hand, for a number of other services there may be other potential service providers, but the fact that Enbridge has extensive knowledge and experience in the business, generally, and in our operations, particularly, make it quite an attractive proposition to contract Enbridge Inc. to provide those services.  


First of all, there is no learning curve.  They know the business.  Secondly, there is a vested interest in providing the best possible service.  That goes beyond the monetary value of the contract that might motivate a third party, similar to the kind of relationship I guess a parent would have with a child, and any kind of relationship.


Because Enbridge Inc. has several business units of size, there are also significant synergistic and scale advantages that would make the economics attractive to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Finally, because Enbridge Inc. is familiar with owning regulated businesses, so it's sensitive and aware of regulatory principles, including the need to operate within the bounds, as well as the spirit of the Affiliate Relationships Code.  


And from my perspective, having Enbridge Inc. provide these services offers Enbridge Gas Distribution a low-risk, cost-efficient means of obtaining very high quality services from a world-class leading company.


MS. PERSAD:  Mr. Mees, where in the evidence would these services and costs be described?


MR. MEES:  A fulsome description of the services and the costs is given in the individual service schedules to the inter-corporate services agreement, and that's filed at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, and I would ask if you could turn that up for me, please.  Again, that's Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1.  I would like you to turn to the first schedule, which is found on page 39.


So this is the audit and accounting advice service schedule.  It is typical of most of our service schedules.  It contains a service description, as you can see at the top, the service definition.  It includes a description of the roles of each of the departments of the Enbridge Inc. corporate office involved in the provision of the services.  In this case, it is audit services department and the corporate controller's department.


It includes the cost of the service, 96,125 in this case; the expected deliverable; the quality and quantity of the service; and you can see on the next page it includes the authorized signature agreeing to the service schedule from the service recipient.


The individual services and the costs are also described in Deloitte, evaluative report, filed at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2.


MS. PERSAD:  So to turn to other members on the panel, starting with you, Ms. DuPont, what role do you play at Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas Distribution with respect to the corporate services?


MS. DuPONT:  My role with the Enbridge Inc. organization, Madam Chair, is as the group vice president, corporate resources.  And so, as such, a number of the services that are provided to Enbridge Gas Distribution are provided through my departments or some of the functions that I am involved in.


Specifically, I have accountability for support to the board of directors.  It's an accountability that I share with other colleagues, but I am here to speak to it today.  The board of directors' support includes complete service responsibility for supporting and managing the entire board of directors' process, which includes agenda setting, overseeing report preparation, board governance and administration, definition of board member roles, board recruitment and appointment, board communications and certainly communications with affiliate companies, as well as externally, on behalf of our board.


As well, I have accountability in my group for the EGD board and audit committee, as well as the interface between the EGD board and the other committees of the board.  And so that would include the human resources and compensation committee, the corporate social responsibility committee and the audit committee and, in that regard, involved in board evaluation, directors' and officers' liability insurance arrangements, directors' compensation, legal services, development of proxies, board orientation and education.  


So that's a description of the support that is provided to the board of directors through my departments and through my colleagues.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DuPont, if I could just have a clarification, that is support to the board of directors of EGD?


MS. DuPONT:  It is support to the board of directors of both EGD and Enbridge Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. DuPONT:  In addition, the directors' fees and expenses come through my group, Madam Chairman, and so that area comprises all of the directors' fees and expenses that are paid, and that is a separate allocation in this discussion.  In addition, I have responsibility for Enbridge ‑‑ enterprise, sorry, enterprise, IT, strategy planning and management, and this service is a high-level strategic focus involved in the development of enterprise‑wide IT strategies, policies and IT standards, and the alignment of those to the long-range plan of the entity.  This would include the identification, evaluation and implementation of those policies and standards.  So that is the strategic IT focus.


In addition to that, I have responsibility for enterprise IT program management.  Program management involves the project management of major company-wide projects, as well as coordination and monitoring on other significant projects in EGD and related oversight activities.


Also in this portfolio is records and information management, and records and information management is a function that provides policies and procedures to manage records and information, Madam Chairman, an area that has become increasingly important in the new governance climate in which we work.


Finally, I would comment on the employee expense management system, and that's called the Necho system, Madam Chairman, and it is the system that is responsible for the technical support administration of the automated employee expense-reporting tool, as well as the automated purchasing tool.  It's an online system and where all expenses that are incurred by employees using AmEx or BMO corporate cards are uploaded automatically.  So that area also falls into my portfolio. 


 MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  If I could turn now to Mr. Gruending, what role do you play with respect to the provision of these services from Enbridge Inc.?


MR. GRUENDING:  Madam Chair, as vice president controller of Enbridge Inc., I am here today to discuss some 16 services outlined on K9.1 and distributed by Ms. Persad, services that are offered by Enbridge Inc. and agreed to be provided to Enbridge Gas Distribution in 2006.


I personally oversee many of these services and represent others who oversee the balance of these services.  The majority of these services are not supplemental for the gas distribution utility, but are services not performed by the utility.  In fact, one of these services, direct EFS charge, is a fee from the utility for Enbridge Inc., demonstrating that the allocation process works both ways.

     For the Board's benefit, I will now walk through and briefly describe some of the services outlined on the schedule K9.1, to ensure you understand the activities being performed by the corporate office, the “verbs” so to speak, and the experience of those performing these activities.  

     Maybe I will start with insurance premiums and audit fees.  Those are, I think, two of the larger fees and services, and, I think, are fairly intuitive.  Utility requires insurance ranging from property to liability to fiduciary, the whole gamut of insurance coverages, and, as a large company, audit fees.  The scope and price of these services are at or below market, given the buying power of Enbridge Inc., overall.  

     A few other services provided by the corporate office relate to the procuring of these direct costs, i.e., insurance and audit fees.  And, for example, one of the services is entitled "insurance strategy and management".  And apart from the premiums themselves, this would capture the cost of resourcing a senior insurance professional to identify insurance scope, organize underwriting submissions and negotiate these premiums.  

     The external audit-coordination service, similarly, relates to the procurement of external audit services and captures, again, the cost of recording the scope, timing and price of the audit and -- for EGD, and outsourcing certifications necessary.  

     Related to this, buts distinctly different, is the audit- and accounting-advice service provided from Enbridge Inc. to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  This is a service that provides expert advice on the implications of new accounting pronouncements and related audit -- internal audit requirements to deal with those new changes.  Some examples would include changes to accounting derivatives, handbook sections, SOX certification, pension accounting, and changes -- proposed changes to regulated accounting.  

     Another larger service, investor services.  Probably, rather intuitive, but, for your benefit, I’ll briefly describe it.  It represents the service of communicating with existing holders of Enbridge Gas capital, including debt, directly, and equity, indirectly, a service utility would need.  This is a costly service to deliver, frankly, as it involves the constant communication with investors -- thousands of investors - retail, institutional - and establishing and maintaining trust in this market environment, within an industry where that trust has been broken repeatedly.  It involves salary, travel, other costs necessary to communicate the results and strategy of Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries to these capital holders.  

     The benefits from providing this service I'm sure Mr. Player will discuss, but they can be absolutely huge in terms of the cost of capital.  And this business is a very capital-intensive one.  

     And maybe, in the interests of time -- there’s some other services, but -- including tax advice, tax-reporting advice and planning and some charges for the portion of the depreciation of our enterprise-wide risk-management system.  

     So maybe I’ll stop there, and I’d be happy to discuss both the quantum and quality of these services, later.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     If I could turn to you, Mr. Brown, what role do you play on this panel? 

     MR. BROWN:  Madam Chair, I was the primary Enbridge Inc. representative involved with Deloitte and Touche in the development of the new regulatory-cost-allocation methodology.  And I will also provide support today to Mr. Gruending and Ms. DuPont, on this panel.  

     MS. NOWINA:  And Mr. Boyle, what role would you play with respect to the services? 

     MR. BOYLE:  My role here is as a service provider.  I am part of the centralized Enbridge treasury group in Calgary.  It is the only treasury function we have in the organization, and it provides services to all of the Enbridge affiliates that are required.  

     I've been responsible, or directly involved in, all treasury- and finance-related services over a number of years, for Enbridge and its affiliates.  And the four principal services I'm addressing here would be the ones listed in schedule 9.1.  And I’ll just briefly describe some of the elements of those services.  

     The first is capital-market financing and access.  That relates to new issues of term-debt, capital, preferred-share capital or common-equity capital, for all the public issuers in the Enbridge group.  And those public issuers would include Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Gas Distribution, Enbridge Pipelines Inc., Enbridge Energy Partners - which is our US master limited partnership, or an income-fund-type equivalent in the United States - and, also, our Enbridge Income Fund here in Canada.  

     It also involves the maintenance of a liquid, secondary trading market for the debt of all our public issuers, in Canada or the United States.  

     The next service is the cash-management banking service that I’ll be addressing.  That is in respect of -- I’ll call the “day-to-day cash management” of the utility, and our other entities that require that service.  It is involved in issuing commercial paper, for example, which is debt with a maturity of less than one year - and I distinguish that from the long-term debt which would be in the capital-market-access category - as well as maintaining banking relationships and bank-funding for the various entities that require that, including Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     The other service I will be touching on is rate-regulated entity support.  And that would include, for example, among other things, the annual cost of capital, information and evidence that's prepared for the utility for this hearing, the interrogatory process, and, obviously, the hearing as well, if required.   

     The last area I will be touching on, as well, to the extent necessary, is risk assessment and management.  That is the provision of risk policies and procedures, and monitoring of risks for the various entities in the Enbridge group, including Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And its focus is on what we call “financial” or “market” risk:  that would be commodity risk, interest-rate risk, foreign-exchange risk and counter-party credit.  So, if we're looking to enter into a transaction with a gas supplier, for example, we would look to see what their credit profile is, and are they sufficiently creditworthy for us to do business with them?  That kind of activity.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And back to you, Mr. Player.  What role do you play at Enbridge Gas Distribution, with respect to the corporate services? 

     MR. PLAYER:  As vice president of finance, I'm a service recipient for a number of various services related to finance, governance and information technology.  While I do not intend to list all of the specific services, I thought that I might make note of the largest, as well as those services that have names which, perhaps, aren't quite as intuitive to understanding what they're all about.  

     My interest in all of these services is conveying a degree of need and any benefit for Enbridge Gas Distribution that might arise from the specific service.  And one of the benefits that does not arise from getting services from the corporate parent is, I don't recall ever having had a free lunch.  Now, first of all, the insurance premiums:  this is a direct charge, and the largest charge, in fact, at an annual cost, in 2006 budget, of $4.9 million.  There is little discussion required on this, because we simply need insurance coverage to operate.  And the buying power and the negotiating leverage that Enbridge Inc. brings to bear on the market results in getting attractive coverage and costs for premiums.  As well, getting coverage, at all, sometimes, is difficult.  

     Secondly, is the capital-market financing and access service, which assures us that our funding needs will be met for capital, and met at a highly competitive rate.  This is a demanding service, both in terms of time and effort, as well as in knowledge of both the business and the capital markets.  

     Next would be investor services, a service that focuses on maintaining investor confidence with existing investors.  Now, if this service were discontinued, there could be an inability to either access or even maintain third party investment altogether, or simply incur a higher cost of funding, which, you know, if unsuccessful in raising capital, could leave plant systems failures over time, as well stagnate growth.  


External audit fees are direct charges that have been growing.  In fact, a study recently indicated that average external audit fees for Fortune 500 companies have increased by 68 percent.  Our projection is a 50-percent fee reduction in 2006, but having said that, it is off a fairly high 2005 base, so we incurred some higher costs, as well, with our audit fees over compliance issues.


Enbridge Gas Distribution benefits from the corporate negotiation of this charge as a part of the entire Enbridge external audit service that we receive from PricewaterhouseCoopers.  If that service were discontinued, Enbridge Gas Distribution would not be in business unless it negotiated and obtained the service directly.  Enbridge's fee discount would not be available to Enbridge Gas Distribution if it were acting on its own.


Now, external audit coordination, that is a much smaller service, but it is this service which is responsible for those external audit fee discounts which are negotiated on Enbridge Gas Distribution's behalf.  We would estimate the fees would be in the order of 30 to 40 percent higher if we did not have this service.


Next would be a board of directors' support.  It's a very active and involved service.  It's extremely demanding and precise.  There are practical limitations to Enbridge Gas Distribution doing this work today, in that the board committee structure and its current efficiency is based on a central team of support, and that would be lost and much duplication would soon result after that.  


As long as I've been with the company, Enbridge Gas Distribution has not had its own human resources compensation committee, governance committee or sustainable responsibility committees.  And I suppose that if these roles were taken on, as these roles were taken on at the Enbridge Inc. board level somewhere around the same time that Enbridge Gas Distribution's executive team of some 19 vice presidents and senior vice presidents was disbanded, and we now operate with a team of about -- I guess it is five of us who are vice presidents.


In addition to providing technical support for the Enbridge-wide financial system, which is comprised of three leading softwares which Enbridge Gas Distribution and the rest of the Enbridge business units rely on for accounting, planning, budgeting and expense, employee expense claims, there is separate service encompassing the costs incurred for the day‑to‑day operation of those same systems, so I'm not talking about that.  I'm not talking about that infrastructure support.  I'm talking about providing the overall technical support to these.  Ensuring the boxes are up and running is not a part of this service.


These are two IT-related services without which we would simply be incapable of managing and financially reporting, both internally and externally, for compliance purposes.


The next, information technology services, referred to as the enterprise IT program management and program management, is just as the name suggests, providing the program and the project management coordination, monitoring of all major company‑wide projects, as well as the coordination of other significant projects within a business unit.


Without a single point of coordination for the enterprise-wide applications, the ability to successfully derive benefits for Enbridge Gas Distribution and others would be quite limited.  The same really holds true, I think, for the insight coordination value which Enbridge Gas Distribution derives from this service on its own major projects, such as Enmar, Entrack, et cetera.  


Now, as I may recall, Enbridge Gas Distribution does not have its own corporate information officer, CIO.  The corporate information office fills that role for all Enbridge companies. 


 Now, as well as specific program and project management support, we also procure an enterprise IT strategy and planning management service from Enbridge Inc.  It is that service which is involved in the development of enterprise-wide IT strategies, policies, IT standards, and really the alignment of the long-range plans of the enterprise and the individual business units with those strategies.  


This work is certainly not done in isolation of the business units, as Enbridge Gas Distribution is represented by Mr. DeWolf, its director of information technology, on an enterprise-wide information technology council, which has input has and decision-making responsibilities associated with the determination of IT strategies and policies.


Perhaps if I provide two or three examples of the service, you would get a better feel for the value that that service provides to the distribution utility.  In 2004, the CIO office identified and evaluated the opportunity to use the technology to manage single sign-on.  Now, that's a technology that enables an IT user to enter his or her ID password only once, and thereafter gain direct access to any single sign-on-enabled application without having to re-enter IDs and pass words.  


The evaluation would have cost in the order of $500,000 to do that for the enterprise.  Through this allocation methodology, Enbridge Gas Distribution would only pay 26 percent of that cost.  Now, we were also looking at doing that ourselves.  Had we done it ourselves, the cost would have been in the order of $400,000, so you can see the advantage there.


In 2005, the CIO office is evaluating the benefit of a single help desk for the entire organization, and if it is shown to be beneficial and if the savings through negotiation come about as we expect, we would be looking at something in excess of 10 percent savings on that, which would save $160,000 a year. 


The evaluation will cost less than $50,000, and our share of that is 26 percent or only $12,000.  So that's a reasonably good return on a $12,000 investment.


 On the direct cost side in 2005, Enbridge Gas Distribution, due to its overwhelming use of the employee portal, had decided that it needed to add document management capability to the portal infrastructure.  That capability was not required by the other business units, but the distribution utility turned to this office on the service and said, What can you do for us?  And two members of the CIO office spent over 1,000 hours preparing that work.  Enbridge Gas Distribution was not billed for that time. 


It is part of the service that we have, but if you go to an outside consultant, that would be $200 to $250 an hour, and there is, you know, 200 to a quarter of a ‑‑ or 200,000 to a quarter-of-a-million savings as a result of that.


Moving on, perhaps just a brief comment on the risk assessment and management service, which involves those departments directly under the direction of the CEO, CFO and group vice president of gas strategy and corporate development.  This takes risk assessment beyond the day‑to‑day operational risks that tend to be the focus of Enbridge Gas Distribution management.  For example, on the policy panel, we talked at length on the operation of safety risk, past -- posed by cast iron and bare steel.  Well, the corporate risk assessment and management service focuses on such things as the assessment and mitigation of potential gas supply risks, or interest rate risks or commodity risks, for example.


Not only is this a critical aspect of managing the business proactively, but it is a key focus of any board of directors today and supports our ability to run a business with confidence and manage, rather than be managed, by high risk factors in our organization.


Directors' fees and expenses were referred to.  These are general expenses incurred by the gas distribution business to cover those board-related costs.  Deloitte has estimated the cost of Enbridge Gas Distribution operating its own fully functional stand‑alone board to be in the order of 1.35 million to $1.8 million per year.  The combined costs of all our board costs, including board support, are considerably less than that today.


Corporate compliance, that's a service that while not a large expense is worth taking note on, since it is charged with responsibility for developing, maintaining and communicating policies and guidelines around actions that result in high governance standards, something that is very important today, as well as establishing specific governance structures to ensure the appropriate oversight and behaviour.  


Examples of that would include our code of business conduct, capitalization policies.  CFO has monthly meetings with myself and my peers from the other business units to discuss policies, disclosures, et cetera, but also include things like the establishment of signing authorities, authorizations and specific policies on expenditure control.


As you may know, Enbridge has been rated as one of the country's best-governed companies, and that does not happen without a lot of leadership and direction.  It encompasses compliance guidelines, policies and standards by which Enbridge Gas Distribution management is able to operate with the confidence that it is operating within the bounds of strong corporate governance and compliance, and it provides ratepayers with a similar confidence that there will be stability and continuity in this all-Canadian gas utility going forward.


MS. PERSAD:  Mr. Mees, what role do you play on the panel?


MR. MEES:  I led the development of RCAM for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  I was the main interface between Deloitte and the service recipients, and, in addition to that, on the panel today I'm here to provide support to Mr. Player with the number of services that you just heard discussed.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And then, if I could just turn to a few points that Mr. Johnson would have made in his evidence, about corporate cost allocations.  First of all, with respect to cash management and banking, and the capital markets, financing and access service, Mr. Johnson states that it is likely that one person, namely, the VP of finance, could handle this task in Enbridge Gas Distribution, if it were a stand-alone entity.  Does the panel have any comment on that observation? 

     MR. BOYLE:  Perhaps, I could address that question.  I would have to strongly disagree with that statement.  To give you an example of some of the factors that would indicate why that is not the case, I think you have to look at the operations of Enbridge Gas Distribution, itself.  

     In fact, it is actually one of the most active cash and banking businesses in Canada.  The reason for that is that it's got a very large customer base - 1.7 million customers, approximately - making bill payments every day.  We've got revenue coming in, on a daily basis, anywhere from $2 million to $20 million for the utility itself, and there’s volatility in that number every day.  Trying to deal with that and predict what you're going to get and manage that is not easy.  

     As well, there are gas costs of approximately $2 billion that we pay at the utility.  In addition, there are operating and maintenance costs and capital expenditures.  In fact, probably, the only busier cash and banking groups in Canada would be the major six or seven Canadian banks, and, perhaps, Bell Canada.  This is not an easy activity to manage.  

     And in fact, to demonstrate that, historically, to some extent, there was a period, a number of years ago, when Enbridge Gas did have, essentially, a stand-alone treasury function.  That was about ten years ago, when the treasury group was centralized in Calgary.  At that time, Enbridge Gas Distribution, on a stand-alone basis, had six persons in the treasury group.  Three of those were doing cash and banking activities, and three were doing capital markets, financing and access.  So I think that is another indication that you cannot do utilities business with just one person.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And with respect to capital-market financing and access, Mr. Johnson also comments that he believes that 50 percent allocation of the cost of the service to other Enbridge affiliates seems low.  Does the panel have any comment on that?   

     MR. PLAYER:  Well, I would agree with Mr. Johnson.  I think a 50 percent allocation to Enbridge affiliates would certainly be considered low.  

     However, as you can see from, and I would ask you to turn to, Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2, section 5.2, page 16.  It's the fourth service down.  And the numbers clearly show that by far the largest amount must be allocated to other affiliates, since Enbridge Gas Distribution is only being charged $1,157,243, and that includes its full share of support costs and indivisible costs, out of the total $4,181,707 of costs to the entire organization for this service.    

     And by my calculation, the $1,157,243 only represents 27.7 percent of the total charges, leaving 72.3 percent being charged to the other business units, not 50 percent.  

     Furthermore, it may be worth noting that this service is not a one-man show.  It is a sophisticated operation, involving five departments, including the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Daniel, the Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Wuori, the investor-relations department, the treasury department, as well as the corporate secretarial department.   

     MR. BOYLE:  If I might add to that, as well, to try to give some context to that 28 percent figure.  

     Enbridge Gas Distribution, again, is one of the more active issuers in the capital markets in Canada, and the US as well to that extent.  To give some context, again, in the last three and a half years, for example, Enbridge and all its affiliates have been in the term-debt market ten times.  That's from January 2002 to today.  Of those ten issues, four of those were Enbridge Gas Distribution transactions.  Three of them were Enbridge Energy Partners transactions, in the US.  Two of them were Enbridge Inc. transactions.  And one was the Enbridge Income Fund.  So again, by that measure - and I’d expect that would be the case in the future, as well - Enbridge Gas Distribution is actually one of the most active issuers in our group of companies.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Now, Mr. Johnson also makes reference to several instances in which he observes that the indivisible portion of the primary service from Enbridge Inc. exceeds the directly-allocated costs for those services.  

     Does the panel have any comment on why this would be the case? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I wanted to comment on this concept that Mr. Johnson brings up consistently.  

     Mr. Johnson feels that there is a link between the amount of service provided to EGD, the amount of service provided to other affiliates and the amount that is indivisible.  The assumption that there’s a link between the services provided to EGD, and the services provided to other affiliates is not correct.  This logic is flawed.  It fails to look at the underlying services.  

     The services provided to EGD may be different than the services provided to other affiliates.  You will see this as, the service recipients and service providers discuss their services in the next couple of panels.  The important thing, in my opinion, for the Board is, what are the services that are being provided to EGD?  Are those services required?  Are they allocated to EGD properly? And do the benefits exceed the costs?   So basically, do all of the services meet the three-prong test? 

     From a service-recipient's perspective, we do need the services that we've brought forward.  The benefits do exceed the costs, and we're getting great value for the money we are spending.  

     After the review by Deloitte, Enbridge can confidently say that all services, whether they're direct or indivisible, meet the Board's tests.   

MS. PERSAD:  Now, Mr. Johnson's observations in this regard do relate to several specific services.  And I'm wondering if the panel would have any more specific comments related to those services, being - and I’ll just use the short names - the IT services for Khalix, Necho and Oracle, and then, finally, Supply-Chain management.      

MR. PLAYER:  Well, perhaps, in order to understand whether or not an allocation is appropriate or not, it's necessary to first understand the service and, perhaps, in some detail, unfortunately, because not all services are created equally.  

     The first three services to which Mr. Johnson raises a concern, in this specific regard, is noted in his evidence L25.1, page 13 of 19, and lines 1 through 15, inclusive, are with respect to the technical support of Khalix, Necho and Oracle:

“There are no direct charges.  All charges are indivisible and allocated out, based on a percentage of users.”

     Now as much as anyone, I agree that it would be fantastic if there were no need for these services, as Mr. Johnson suggests.  But, unlike my Excel spreadsheet software, these are pretty sophisticated systems, and they do require some technical support to maintain, develop, their functional integrity to be in a current state.  

     These three services, as I've noted, are for the technical support of three corporate financial-system software, that is, operating software that is used commonly for all Enbridge business units, including Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And each are hosted and maintained on a common piece of hardware somewhere in the Enbridge organization.  In fact, a good portion of it resides here, in Toronto, and is operated by Enbridge Gas Distribution for all of Enbridge -- but not for all of the software, a good chunk of it.  

     Now, to be specific, the three services that we're referring to do not include charges for the software-license ownership, itself, nor do they cover the cost of people who operate the machines that the software runs on.  But rather, these services cover the costs of providing all the Enbridge business units a common training program, to enable them to do things like enter financial transactions into a ledger, or into expense claims, or into departmental budgets or project claims, to make accounting-entries adjustments, to approve expense claims, etc.  I'm simplifying, but easy to see what I'm talking about, here.  

     In addition to training programs, these services also provide maintenance on those electronic training programs, as well as the technical-support processes for the entire system, across Enbridge.  

     As well, these systems and services provide standard reporting.  And, by that, I don't mean the financial reports, like financial statements, but rather standard reporting on how the system is operating:  capacity, downtime, its status on upgrades or patches, et cetera.  These services include the planning, management, communication and the actual implementation, training and reporting on enterprise‑wide system configurations, customizations or enhancements, upgrade releases, including the interface upgrades, as well.


In short, although I must admit this doesn't probably sound very short, it is a bundle of services that manage the entire life cycle of our three financial enterprise systems that are shared across all of Enbridge, a single service -- three services, actually, provided to all business units and not characterized by any individual business unit's specific uniqueness.  


Before I get on to the question at hand, let me just round out a few more descriptions of the service so that you can be clear that this is not a business unit-specific tree of services, but perhaps also help you understand the tremendous synergies that apply here and why it makes no economic sense to provide these services or to undertake these separately for each individual business unit.


Because this service also encompasses the management of all the licences with the software vendor and, in fact, also the overall vendor management, these services manage system performance measurement, as well as system maintenance, even though it doesn't entail doing the actual system maintenance.  So it's managing separate from an operational application or infrastructure role, because the infrastructure activity is carried out wherever the boxes reside.  


Now, perhaps hearing ‑‑ having given this long-winded explanation and description of the service, it's now clear as to why the cost is 100 percent indivisible and why Enbridge Gas Distribution would receive service allocations entirely based on indivisible costs and yet be allocated no direct cost at all.  


I suppose it is really more of a methodology question, but it is critical, I think, to understand that an indivisible cost is no less valuable or no less required by Enbridge Gas Distribution than a service which is determined to be 100 percent direct-cost based.


The value of somehow attempting to track individual business units on their usage of particular aspects of this type of service is not only, I think, impractical, it is probably meaningless, and the costs of attempting to do so would be administratively and cost prohibitive.  


But to finish off the question completely, I will simply say that these indivisible costs are being allocated on the basis of the number of users.  We believe this to be a fair allocation method that actually works in Enbridge Gas Distribution's favour, because if it were based on transaction usage volume or time usage volume, our allocations would actually be significantly higher.


The degree of detail and degree of rigour in gas distribution business required to support regulatory budgeting and reporting and the complexity of our business simply drives a level of detail beyond the level in the other Enbridge business units.  


There is one more service for which I have been given responsibility for testifying on, and that is also in the position of having quite a small direct charge, as noted in Mr. Johnson's evidence, and that is supply chain management.


I will only point out that while this corporate service only allocates a charge of $11,832 to Enbridge Gas Distribution, it has been responsible for generating enormous savings - largely capital, some O&M - in the order of over $64 million since it was instituted in the year 2000, of which $38 million of that savings occurred in the fiscal 2004, and a further $692,000 during the three-month stub period in 2004.


So when I mentioned on the policy panel the other day that we do not ‑‑ that we do take capital productivity very seriously, that was one of the examples that I was referring to.


MS. PERSAD:  Just a couple of more brief questions.  Mr. Johnson also refers to several other services on page 15 of his evidence.  In fact, he has a table listing what those services are, and his critique is with respect to the direct and the indivisible allocators it referenced on that table.  


Does the panel have any comments, in addition to those you have just made, about these remarks?


MR. BROWN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I would just like to supplement the previous remarks of Mr. Player and Mr. Mees regarding Mr. Johnson's evidence.  There is no need to refer to it at this moment, but it is filed at Exhibit 1, tab 28, schedule 13 on page 10, and the revised table 2, the last page of that evidence.


Firstly, I will admit that the RCAM model is quite complex, so it's understandable, I suppose, that Mr. Johnson doesn't clearly grasp a very key aspect to the new methodology.  That's with respect to the three distinct categories of time estimates that were captured by the model.


Mr. Johnson feels there should be a correlation between the amounts of time spent providing services that are of benefit to all affiliates, including EGD, which is also referred to as indivisible, to the amounts of time spent providing services directly to EGD or directly to other affiliates, excluding EGD.


In fact, time estimates obtained in these three categories for all services generally bear no relationship to one another and stand alone on their own merits.  So for clarification, it needs to be understood that in those cases where the effort can be attributed to affiliates other than EGD, that Enbridge Inc. itself is in this category.


And several of the services on table 2 reflect a high percentage of time, reflecting the fact that services are being provided directly to the client base of Enbridge Inc. itself, the staff in Calgary, along with the other affiliates.


It should also be clear that the relatively low percentage of time directly provided to EGD is due to the fact that the effort in the provision of these particular services are, for the most part, benefiting all Enbridge affiliates, including EGD, and is, therefore, indivisible.  So, in other words, it is impossible for the service providers to delineate their efforts between affiliates in that category.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Persad, just so I am clear, the reference ‑‑ the table that we're talking about here appears on page 15 of 19 of Mr. Johnson's evidence; is that right?


MS. PERSAD:  Yes, it does.  And it was since revised, then, in his responses to interrogatories.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, does the panel have any comment with respect to the specific services listed on that table, or do the general comments suffice?


MR. GRUENDING:  I would be pleased to address another example, investor services, a service with which I am familiar.  Mr. Johnson in his evidence accepts the entire direct charge, but rejects all, all, of the indirect costs, as he concludes that these activities supporting the indivisible allocation have no value to EGD, nor would be required by EGD, if it bought this service from another or performed it itself.


Maybe to illustrate the point, the distinction between a direct activity and an indivisible activity, some examples will help.  I think you will see that these activities are equally important, although distinguished through the methodology of gathering time.


For investor services, an example of a direct cost or a direct activity may be preparing and travelling ‑‑ preparing a presentation, travelling to visit with, say, a utility, a debt investor or an equity investor with a strong level of interest in the utility itself regarding perhaps something even like this rate case.


Mr. Johnson accepts these direct costs, to be clear.  An example of an indirect cost or indivisible cost, as we're calling them here, again, are critical and valuable.  Some examples of investor services would include the preparation of an annual report, including the printing of the report and mailing it to thousands.  I think we have 80,000 annual reports distributed, including postage costs, which alone approximate $100,000.  


The holding of an annual general meeting, web casting it, and maintenance of an IR web site, for example.


So the point I'm making is that these activities are indivisible by nature, but still of value.  So I would strongly disagree with Mr. Johnson's conclusions.


MS. DUPONT:  Madam Chairman, I would comment briefly on two other areas, board of directors' support and director's fees and expenses.


There is a large amount of material that is prepared and provided, Madam Chair, for the EI and the EGD boards jointly.  The Board meets five times a year on a regular basis, and the boards are called together at various intervals between those regular meetings to consider matters that may be of importance to the businesses.


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Ms. DuPont.  I get a little confused when you talk about the board, because I'm never quite sure whether you're talking about the EGD board or the EI board, so when you say the Board meets five times a year can you clarify which board --

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes --

     MS. NOWINA: -- you're talking about. 

     MS. DuPONT:  -- I will clarify.  I apologize, Madam Chair.

     It's the EI board and EGD board, joint meeting. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Jointly. 

     MS. DuPONT:  That's right.  They meet jointly.  So with that number of meetings, and that level of activity and, I think, it’s very well-known, publicly, what a busy organization -- growing organization -- organizations we are, there is a tremendous amount of information that's prepared for the EGD board.  In addition, its instructions must be carried out after the meetings.  

     When I say “information prepared”, there is information prepared for the boards, themselves, and then, of course, in addition, there is information that's prepared for the committees of the board.  So it would only make sense that, coming out of those meetings, there’s a high level of activity, and instructions that need to be followed up on, in the executive group and in the departments.  

     And so that service is provided, coming out of those board meetings, by the CEO, CFO, by the group vice president, corporate development and gas strategy, and by myself.  So that that is service that is provided directly to both of those boards, including, of course, the EGD board. 

     When we speak of directors' fees and expenses - and I think it’s been pointed out earlier by Mr. Player - that's a direct charge to EGD.  It's not an allocation.  And it is comprised of 80 percent for directors’ fees and 20 percent for directors' expenses.  

     The EGD board has access to the Enbridge Inc. committees, and relies on the Enbridge board for some of those services.  If EGD were to have a full and complete board of its own, probably comprising of eight to ten members -- I believe it's been pointed out, earlier, and will be pointed out -- would be pointed out clearly in the panel 3, that the cost for running a board, parallel to the Enbridge Inc. board, would be about $1.3 million 

     As it is now, the direct charge is $497,000, so there’s a significant savings to the ratepayers of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     I must apologize, Madam Chair, I misspoke my last question.  

     And just to confirm from the panel, was it the comments that Mr. Johnson makes on page 17 and 18 of his evidence with respect to the services you identified that you were commenting about? 

     Mr. Gruending? 

     Just to clarify, it wasn't the table on page 15 

that --

     MR. GRUENDING:  That's correct, yes.  

     MS. PERSAD:  -- we were referring to? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  Page 17; that's correct.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Finally, the last question.  At page 19 of his evidence, Mr. Johnson refers to the rate-of-return charge for the corporate services, and observes that it is based on fully burdened costs in Enbridge Inc.  Does the panel have a comment about this? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.  The fully burdened costs of each service did not include the cost of capital on the assets from Enbridge Inc.  The assets, including the computers, software, infrastructure, furniture and other assets for the corporate office -- those are the assets that we're speaking of.  These assets are used to provide the services provided to Enbridge Gas Distribution, and, therefore, a return on these assets should be included in the cost allocated from Enbridge Inc., as per the Affiliate Relationships Code.  So, for simplicity and transparency, this return amount of 248,327 has been put on a separate line item.   

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you. 

     Those are all of my questions.   

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  

     Can I get an indication from intervenors whose going to cross-examine this panel?  And, if you have an idea of time and order, that would be appreciated.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Madam Chair, I will be going first.  I estimate, approximately, an hour and a half for my cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De VELLIS.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I'm going second, Madam Chair.  And it's difficult to estimate, but I think I might be 60 to 90 minutes, myself.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I think I'm going third, although that’ll remain to be seen, but I think I am.  I expect that I’ll also be -- it's really difficult to tell, because it’s not clear which panel is going to do what, and I have questions that I don't know whether this panel is going to end up answering.  But I’m thinking, maybe, 90 minutes, as well.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Mr. Dingwall?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I anticipate asking questions, and I anticipate that they will be between 20 and 30 minutes.  And I’ll not remind the Board of my record with respect to accuracy, but I don't believe it’s on the line, at this point.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Anyone else? 

     Mr. De VELLIS, why don't you proceed, and if you can try to find a gap in your questioning for a break at about 15 minutes before 11:00, I would appreciate that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     Before I begin, I had sent a compendium of documents that I intend to use in my cross-examination to the Board.  And I also sent extra copies for the use by intervenors.  I wonder if I can ask Mr. Battista to make those available, if that's possible.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.  We will give the compendium Exhibit No. K9.2.  And it will be characterized as “VECC Compendium of Documents Regarding Issue 9.17.”

EXHIBIT NO. K9.2:  VECC COMPENDIUM OF DOCUMENTS REGARDING ISSUE 9.17  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I apologize, Mr. Battista.  I also sent extra copies for the intervenors.  I wonder if -- to save the wear and tear on my back.  

     Madam Chair, would it be easier to take the morning break now, while this is sorted out? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, it might appear that it would be.  

     Why don't we do that?  We’ll break until 10:30.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.            


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:15 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:35 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Mr. De VELLIS, are you ready to proceed?


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, I should have mentioned before the break, I also have another exhibit that I forwarded to the Board and to the other members yesterday.  If I could ask that be entered, as well, as an exhibit, the spreadsheet, Mr. Battista?


MR. BATTISTA:  This is the spreadsheet, corporate cost allocations hourly rates.


MR. De VELLIS:  No, it's EI allocations for EGD by head office department.  


MR. BATTISTA:  Sorry for the confusion.  Do we have copies?


MR. De VELLIS:  I do have copies.


MR. BATTISTA:  This will be given Exhibit No. K9.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K9.3:  EI ALLOCATIONS FOR EGD BY HEAD OFFICE DEPARTMENT  
     MR. BATTISTA:  And it is EI allocations to EGD by head office.


MS. NOWINA:  Do all of the parties have a copy of this exhibit?


MR. De VELLIS:  I believe all the intervenors have copies.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Please go ahead, Mr. De VELLIS.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. De VELLIS:

MR. De VELLIS:  Before I begin, I've been asked to clarify with the panel, regarding your Exhibit K6.4 referred to earlier in examination in‑chief, I note that the O&M departments have cost allocation figures built into them.  Can I get a sense from you whether the O&M panels will speak to the corporate cost allocations built into their particular budgets, or whether that should be taken up with the cost allocation panels?


MR. MEES:  Sorry, just to clarify, we are here to speak to the 21.3 and we will do it by service recipient ‑‑ by service, so basically by service recipient, service provider, not necessarily by department.


MR. De VELLIS:  Right, okay.  Well, I guess the question is, there are O&M panels up next week, and will they be able to answer questions about the cost allocation amounts built into their budget?


MR. MEES:  No, this should be taken up with these three panels.  They will speak to their costs outside of cost allocation.


MR. De VELLIS:  In that case, Madam Chair, Mr. Warren is not present here today, but he may have questions for the panel, depending on the testimony that's given today, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  So he may be here this afternoon, Mr. De VELLIS?


MR. De VELLIS:  I'm afraid I don't know if he will be here this afternoon or tomorrow, but that is ‑‑ I am afraid that is all the information I have.  I apologize.


Can I ask, first of all, each member of the panel to identify who it is they report to within their respective organizations?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes.  I report to the CEO and president, Pat Daniel.


MR. PLAYER:  Scott Player, and I report to Mr. Schultz, the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. MEES:  Mike Mees, and I report to Scott Player, vice president of finance in Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. GRUENDING:  Colin Gruending, and I report to Stephen Woori, group VP and CFO of Enbridge Inc.


MR. BROWN:  David Brown, and I report to Colin Gruending beside me, the controller of Enbridge Inc.


MR. BOYLE:  Brad Boyle, and I report to the vice president and treasurer, John Whelan.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.  If the panel could turn, first of all, to the intercorporate services agreement, that's at Exhibit A6, tab 1, schedule 1, appendix 1.  Now, first of all, is this agreement similar to the CAM agreement, in that the service provider is EI and the service recipient is EGD?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  As it is shown on page 1 of the appendix, this is for Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. De VELLIS:  And the services are to begin on January 1st, 2006?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  I note that most of the service schedules were signed in March of this year.


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. De VELLIS.  We haven't found the reference yet.  Can you please give it to us again?


MR. De VELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  It's the inter-corporate services agreement.


MS. NOWINA:  Can you give us the reference, A6?


MR. De VELLIS:  Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe I can ask everyone.  It seems that we have a lot of different references for this panel, and it's important for the Board Panel to be able to get to them.  So if you would just ‑‑ I don't want to slow things down, but just take enough time that we can find them before we proceed with the questions or the responses.


MR. De VELLIS:  I understand.  I apologize, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  Did you have a page number on that?  Tab 10, schedule 1 ‑‑


MR. De VELLIS:  Appendix 1.  I haven't gotten to the actual reference yet.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. De VELLIS:  But that is the document that I'm referring to.


MS. NOWINA:  We're there.


MR. De VELLIS:  And the service schedules that are attached to these services agreements, most of them are signed in March of this year; is that right?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that appears to be correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  And if you could turn to paragraph 14 of the agreement, what that indicates is that there will be an annual review of the service agreements?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct, a performance review.


MR. De VELLIS:  So although the services were ‑‑ service schedules were signed in March and the services won't start till January, there will be no review in the interim as to whether they're appropriate or not?


MR. MEES:  No, that is actually incorrect.  We -- actually, as part of our budget process this year, we will be conducting a performance review just to make sure that the service schedules, that they are updated and if there is any potential changes that have arisen since we developed them back in March, or even back in November.


MR. De VELLIS:  Is there a procedure for that within the agreement -- incorporated into the agreement, rather?


MR. MEES:  I don't believe there is an actual procedure; just that performance reviews will be undertaken.


MR. De VELLIS:  And at paragraph 15 of the agreement, in the middle -- this paragraph deals with the dispute resolution process.  In the middle of the paragraph, the second sentence says:

"If required the president of the service recipient shall make a final determination."


Is that the president of EGD?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  That's Mr. Schultz?


MR. MEES:  That's Mr. Jim Schultz, yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  But he reports to Mr. Letwin at Enbridge Inc.; isn't that right?


MR. MEES:  Yes, he does.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And I see that Mr. Letwin is one of the signatories on the confirmation notice on page 34 of appendix 1.


MR. MEES:  Yes, on page 34.


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  Mr. Letwin, and Mr. Schultz signs for EGD?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. De VELLIS:  So although the agreements says Mr. Schultz makes the final determination, in reality, Mr. Schultz reports to Mr. Letwin, pardon me; is that right? 

     MR. MEES:  That's correct.  

     MR. PLAYER:  If I might add something -- but, in reality, Mr. Schultz is the senior representative of Enbridge Gas Distribution, and also reports to the board of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  He's on the board of Enbridge Gas Distribution, and it is his right -- not right, but requirement, to best represent Enbridge Gas Distribution.  So I'm not sure what you're alluding to, but --

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, the day-to-day reporting relationship is to Mr. Letwin at EI.  

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you. 

     I want to turn, now, to the service schedules at appendix B, that’s page 37 of 132, beginning there.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes, we have that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  On page 38, the first paragraph says:

“The following tables outline the primary services provided by EI to EGD.  These primary services are agreed to, by written signature, by a representative of EGD.”  

     And at schedule 2 -- A6, tab 10, schedule 2, page 10, there Deloitte's, under “Developing the Service Descriptions”, describes how the service schedules were developed.  And what they say there, in the first paragraph -- it’s the second sentence:

“Interviews were conducted with each cost-centre manager at EI, to determine the activities performed and the nature of the costs budgeted.”  

     And then, in the next paragraph:

“After finalizing the service descriptions with the service providers, the service recipients, i.e. EGD, were asked to validate each service schedule, and confirm that each service was required, as described.”  

     Can you tell me how this process worked?  How did a document come to be before you for signing? 

     MR. MEES:  Perhaps, I can do that.  I outlined that, a little bit earlier, in the evidence in chief.  The -- Deloitte led the development of the draft service schedules.  They worked with the Enbridge Inc. departments to come up with the service descriptions, the activities contained within that.  And once they had a good draft of that, it was delivered -- or sent to the service recipients, for their review.  

     They made their comments, made any necessary changes, rejected services outright, if need be.  And then any changes were discussed between Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Gas Distribution and Deloitte.  

     So once it was out -- once Deloitte had drafted the initial service schedules, it really was a collaborative approach amongst the three groups.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  You hadn't seen any of the drafts before EI developed them?  

     MR. MEES:  The service recipients didn't see the drafts.  As the primary person within EGD assisting with the development, I did see the drafts.  So I did review the service schedules drafted, prior to any service recipient within EGD.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Were there any previous drafts of the service schedules?  Do you have any available? 

     MR. MEES:  There would be numerous drafts available -- I mean, there were numerous drafts.  I'm not sure if they're available, or how many there are.   Like, there were a number of changes.  It was a process that involved a couple of months. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, were any of the amounts shown in the service schedules produced as a result of input from EGD? 

     MR. MEES:  When we were developing the service schedules, there were no costs associated with the services, at that point.   It was, what are the activities that we need?  What are the services?  What is the grouping of these activities?  And then once those were defined, then we started to cost them out.  

     So, in the first step that we're discussing here, there were no costs associated at all.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Were you ever asked to -- or, you or any of the managers at EGD ever asked to develop your idea of what the service should be, before seeing the service schedule from EI? 

     MR. MEES:  No, I don't think -- I believe that wasn't the case.  Enbridge Inc. prepared -- along with Deloitte, prepared the service schedules, and then they were delivered to us.   We weren’t -- EGD was not involved, initially.  

     MR. PLAYER:  If I can add to that.  I think the reason that it started with the -- at the provider level, from the recipient's perspective, sometimes you don't know what you don't know.  The degree of detail that goes into some of the board-support activities, we haven't been doing that type of thing for many years and it would be -- I mean, I don't know how I would start to do something like that.  So I think that's the reason why we really started at the provider end, as opposed to the recipient end.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, either as a starting point -- if you're trying to develop a demand-pull methodology, wouldn't it have been prudent to start with the recipients?  Ask them what they believe are the services they receive from EI?  And then begin to develop the service schedule? 

     MR. PLAYER:  We've actually had corporate-cost allocations for many years.  So, if there was anything that would have come back to the recipient, that looked unfamiliar, then we were drilling into that.  And that's, in fact, I think, what Mr. Mees was mentioning, that it's a very iterative process.  It wasn't like it was just set in stone, delivered and said "sign".  No.  There were drafts produced.  It comes back to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  We reviewed those.  Changes are made.  It goes back to the Enbridge Inc. side.  Changes are made.  And then, ultimately, you come down to something that is acceptable to all parties -- that says, Yes, that is the service that we provide.  

     And then, we're certainly not going to sign on to any service that isn't provided, because we have to pay for it.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  EI is not a regulated entity, correct? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  And so there is no prudence review of the total amount of EI's budget, or the departmental amounts?  

     MR. GRUENDING:  Maybe, as Controller, I’ll speak to that.  And you say there’s no prudence review? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  By a regulator. 

     MR. GRUENDING:  By a regulator? Not directly.  But I can guarantee you, there's a very rigorous prudence review, internally, for obvious reasons.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, for example, if we could look at the board of directors’ support service, the total EI budget, according to Deloitte -- that's at appendix 6 of schedule 2, page 5 -- 

     MR. MEES:  Sorry.  Is that within the Deloitte report? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  

     MR. MEES:  Which page is that, sorry? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Page 5 of appendix 6. 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, we have that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  The total cost is -- for -- to EI, the board of directors’ support is 16,823,960; is that right?

     MR. BROWN:  If I could comment.  These particular schedules, within each of the service descriptions, are a little misleading -- somewhat complex, as I mentioned in the exam-in-chief.  

     The total service cost for this particular service is, actually, in the third column.  That would be the $3 million amount.  Deloitte, in the first column, summed the total budgets of each of the departments contributing to this service totalling the 16.8 you referred to.  The actual cost to this service, in particular, is 18 percent, and that's the $3 million.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  So the amount then to EI is 3,047,804?


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  The amount to EI or to EGD?


MR. De VELLIS:  No, to EI.


MS. NOWINA:  To EI?


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  The amount to EGD is the right-most column, total allocation.


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Subject to ‑‑


MR. BROWN:  That's subject to the reductions that were made later on and disclosed.


MR. De VELLIS:  Exactly.  So on page 2, you will see the actual allocation is 687,502 less 22,299, which is 665,203?


MR. MEES:  Sorry.  That was on page 6 at the bottom 

of ‑‑


MR. De VELLIS:  I'm sorry.  Page 6.


MR. MEES:  In 2.6, located there?


MR. De VELLIS:  Right.  So in terms of the indivisible portion of that allocated to EGD, leaving aside the direct costs, the amount allocated on an indivisible basis is not subject to any prudence review by this Board?


MR. MEES:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, you start with the 3 million, and in order to arrive at the indivisible cost allocated to EGD, you divide that -- or you multiply that by 20 percent; is that right?


MR. MEES:  Yes, but it was the second part of your question that this is not subject to prudence review within this Board, and I would disagree with that, because the Board is here to see the total amount for board of directors' support, whether it is indivisible or direct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Can the Board examine the 3 million, whether that is prudent or not?


MR. MEES:  I think what's important here is the end cost to Enbridge Gas Distribution and to the ratepayers of Ontario, and that's the -‑ in this case, the $665,203.  And that's what has been reviewed by Deloitte to ensure that it meets the three-prong test.


So we need the service.  It's been allocated properly, and the benefits exceed the costs for this particular service.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, the indivisible cost allocated to EGD is $357,052.  That is 20 percent of 3 million.  Now, this Board has no way of determining whether the 3 million is prudent, or not.


MR. BROWN:  Again, these are complicated, I understand.  It is not 20 percent of the 3 million.  It is 20 percent of the remainder of the indivisible.  So the 3 million is the starting point.  


Through the time study and the people asked to attribute percentages of time for directly providing service to EGD, that was 11 percent in aggregate for the service providers.  So of the 3 million, 330,000 is deemed direct support.  


Secondly, the direct time allocated to other affiliates ‑ so these are all other affiliates, including Enbridge Inc. itself, but excluding EGD - 31 percent of the 3 million, equalling $932,000.  So if I stop there, you can see 11, plus the 31.  Forty-two percent of the time involved in providing this service was to affiliates directly.


The residual, if my math is correct, would be 58 percent of that total service cost, equating to the million-784, so the remaining indivisible costs.  Then an allocator is determined, the most appropriate one, and, in this case, that allocator is the finance capital employed ratio, which equates to 20 percent.  So it is 20 percent of the indivisible that equates to the 357,000.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Thank you for that, Mr. Brown.  But the starting point is still 3 million?


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  You referred in your examination in‑chief, I believe, Mr. Mees, to an interrogatory from School Energy Coalition.  I think you identified it as Exhibit I, tab 11, but it is actually Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 21.


MR. MEES:  Thank you for that.  Yes, that's correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, this table, beginning at page 3 of Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 21, column 7 through 10 identified a percent change due to service recipient review.


Now, does that mean after EGD reviewed the service?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Is this what you were ‑‑ the table you were referring to when you said that there were a number of services where there were reductions that were too numerous to mention?


MR. MEES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, if you look at column 9 ‑‑ I'm sorry, column 8 of that table, that shows the allocation to EGD; in other words, the percent change due to services recipient review of the allocation to EGD?


MR. MEES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I count 78 services in that table.  Will you accept that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, of the 78, 65 shows zero percent change after allocation after a review by EGD.  Will you accept that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  Certainly.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And two of them show ‑‑ two of the services show an increase, and 11 of the 78 show a decrease, but, out of those, five are ‑‑ show a decrease of 4 percent or less.  Will you accept that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  So when you said earlier that the services where there was a decrease, after review by EGD, were too numerous to mention, that's not entirely accurate, is it?


MR. MEES:  No.  I mean I could have gone through each of those changes.  I ‑‑ in the shortness of time, I just picked one.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, my point, will you agree with me that, if anything, what are too numerous to mention, are the ones where there is zero percent change?  There are 65 of those.  


MR. PLAYER:  I think when we had Deloitte's involvement in this, we were relying on some expertise being provided by this independent consulting house that we had used in previous rate cases, as well, that intervenors decided, together with us, that this was the appropriate firm to be using.


So if we had had many more changes than that, I would have had to question the quality of the service that we were purchasing.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, this goes back to my earlier question.  The starting point for the allocation to EGD was the EI budget, which this Board cannot review; is that right?


MR. MEES:  I guess I'm stuck with the "they cannot review".  They could review.  I don't think it is necessary for them to review.  What is important for this Board is what is being charged to Enbridge Gas Distribution. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  And what we're relying, to some extent, on, EGD -- the service recipient’s vigorous review of these services, to determine whether or not the amounts being allocated to them are appropriate.  

     MR. MEES:  You're relying on Enbridge Gas Distribution service recipients, absolutely.  But, also -- we also had Deloitte review each service, and ensure that each of those services met the three-pronged test. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And what you said earlier is, you were presented with a service schedule that was already completed by EI? 

     MR. MEES:  The first draft was completed by EI --

     MR. De VELLIS:  Right.  

     MR. MEES:  -- before we saw it, yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Sixty-five out of the 78 services, there was no change from EGD; is that right? 

     MR. MEES:  Subject to your math, yes.     

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  

     MR. MEES:  But at the same time, you're looking at -- this is from the January -- the February time frame, but this process started in October.  So there were a number of changes between October, November, December.  What this chart shows is just the changes that were made, once the allocations were done -- 

     MR. De VELLIS:  With the dollars -- 

     MR. MEES:  -- as of December 24th. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  But - pardon me, for interrupting you - once the dollar figures were worked --  

     MR. MEES:  The final -- I mean, there was a couple of drafts, prior to even the service recipients seeing it, of what the dollars were going to cost them.  So when Deloitte thought they were comfortable with the initial allocation amounts, then it went to the service recipients, for their review.  

     So there is a lot of review that was done, even by Deloitte themselves to make sure that the math was correct -- that estimates were correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I'm just asking about the end-user, EGD's.        

     MR. MEES:  So the end-user, finally, saw this - like I said - late December time frame.  And any changes that were made after that were recorded in here.  

     MR. BROWN:  If I could add, it may be worth pointing out, also, that, in the prior four columns -- so the equivalent to column 8, it would be column 4.  And that there were -- I haven't added them up, but there were several changes to those services, with discussions within EI with Deloitte.  So, again, the time study was an extensive process, that bubbled up to the department manager and several interviews with Deloitte, to ensure that the manager was comfortable with the percentages.  And, in several instances, I believe, this would show changes at EI, before the numbers were presented to EGD for further review.  

     So there were multiple reviews and changes to those time estimates.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Well, if I can point you to column 4, then, of that table, Mr. Brown.  

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I look down that column and I see mostly zeros on there as well.  

     MR. BROWN:  Therefore, the time estimates that each individual did, the review by Deloitte, the discussions with the manager overseeing those departments and the services provided, in many instances, as you point out, were not needing of change.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Or weren't challenged.  

     MR. BROWN:  I --

     MR. De VELLIS:  You came to one conclusion -- 

     MR. BROWN:  I’d have to let Deloitte answer that question.  The challenge would come from them.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I'm sorry, my question was, you presented one conclusion from that, that they didn’t need change.  The other interpretation is that they just weren't challenged; isn't that right? 

     MR. MEES:  I think Mr. Brown just answered that question, that Deloitte did challenge them.  And, if we want, we can speak with Deloitte on panel 3.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  If I could just add, they’re not -- I would challenge your assertion that they're all zeros.  I counted 17 reductions in allocations to EGD in column 4.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, we can check the numbers.     

     I'm going to turn, now, to the service schedules included at -- beginning at page 36 of 132, appendix 1 of schedule 1 -- Exhibit A6, tab 10 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, could you repeat that reference, Mr. De VELLIS? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Pardon me, Mr. Sommerville.  Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, and it's page -- beginning at page 36 of 132.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right. Thank you.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Now I’ll turn, first, to the service schedule no. 2, which is the board of directors’ support.  That's beginning at page 41 of 132.  

     Mr. Player, does this service fall under your direction at EGD? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it does, but I probably share it with the president.  But, in terms of a service recipient, I would be the one identified with it.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I see the amount of the service is listed on page 44, at $665,203.  

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Is this a new service for 2006, or did it exist before in another fashion? 

     MR. PLAYER:  This has existed before.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.

     MR. De VELLIS:  If we could turn to the EI -- sorry, Deloitte's evaluation of the service -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  What reference, Mr. De VELLIS? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  It's Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 6, and it's at -- beginning at page 5.  

     Under 2.3, “Costs Incurrence Review”, in the third paragraph, Deloitte gives its explanation as to the services provided to EGD by EI, that EI provides expertise and guidance and support of EGD, there are four key EI board committees which provide value to EGD and its stakeholders, and it lists them: environmental health and safety committee, governance committee, human resource council committee, and finance audit and risk committee.  

     And so, for those services the EI board provides to EGD, EGD is being asked to pay $665,203? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  According to the services that are in that description.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me what is the direct O&M budget allocation for EGD's board of directors, in other words, the amount that EGD pays for its own board of directors?  

     MR. PLAYER:  If you will give us a moment on that, please.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.  

     MR. MEES:  Sorry.  Unfortunately it doesn't look like we do have it, here, with us.  

     MR. PLAYER:  However, perhaps I could interpolate a little bit, if that is all right, rather than get to this undertaking-stage stuff.  

     I believe that, if we take the 6650, which is support, we get to the -- our allocation of the EI board director expenses.  And then how much EGD, itself, spends -- that number is a total of, I believe, it’s $1.2 million, give or take.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that’s the -- is that the total amount? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That would be the total amount, yes. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay. 

     MR. PLAYER:  And I believe that Deloitte had indicated a range for us to put a full board in place on a stand-alone basis, would be in the order of $1.35 to $1.8 million.  


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  In addition to the 665,203, there is a direct allocation to EGD, part of the EI board of directors and expenses, totalling $492,432?


MR. PLAYER:  Correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  If you look at page 81 of appendix 11 -- sorry, I will start from the beginning.  Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 11, page 81.


MR. PLAYER:  Sorry, we're having some problems finding this.


MR. MEES:  Sorry, can you repeat that again?  I'm not sure I got that.


MS. NOWINA:  That's appendix 11 to the Deloitte report?


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  I think I have the wrong appendix.  It's appendix 7.


MR. PLAYER:  Appendix 7.  And which page?


MR. De VELLIS:  Just give me a minute here.


MS. NOWINA:  If you're looking for directors' fees and expenses, I think your first was correct, page 81 of appendix 11.


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.


MR. PLAYER:  That's helpful, because that is where I found my notes on the actual cost.


MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.


MR. PLAYER:  It worked very well.  Thank you.  It's not $1.2 million.  It is actually $1.1 million, but pretty close.


MR. De VELLIS:  No.  I'm sorry.  It is appendix 7, page 2.  That is Deloitte's review of the directors' fees and expenses.


MR. MEES:  We all have that.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Under there, Deloitte explains the justification for that allocation.  In the second paragraph, the last sentence, for example:

"The EGD board relies on the EI board to discuss HR, audit, governance and EH & S topics in their respective board of director committees."


Now, aren't those the same services that we looked at for the previous allocation of $665,000?


MS. DuPONT:  Madam Chairman, the document that is being referred to is a description of fees paid directly to board members and their out-of-pocket expenses; whereas the earlier reference was to the costs of supporting the board of directors -- the boards of directors, pardon me, Madam Chair.  So there is a distinction between fees and expenses and the cost of support of the entities.


And if I might just elaborate on the fees and expenses, if you look a little further in the Deloitte document, Deloitte has indicated that the cost of fees and expenses for a completely discrete board of directors would be between $1.35 million and $1.8 million cost to the ratepayers.


The allocation in the case of utilizing the EI board to supplement the Enbridge Gas Distribution board is $497,846, which is a significant saving to the ratepayer.


MR. De VELLIS:  If you can turn back to the service schedule for board of directors' support, that shows the departments that contribute to that service.


Beginning with the CEO department, you will see at School Energy Coalition IR No. 19, it's Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19, beginning at page 4.  The amount derived from the CEO department for that service is $91,811?


MS. DuPONT:  That is correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And the other ‑‑ well, other components of that are also listed.  I will just point to two of them:  Group VP corporate resources, 156,000, and group VP gas strategy and corporate development, $82,475.  Is that right?


MS. DuPONT:  Correct.


MR. MEES:  We see that, yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, starting with the CEO department, if you go to exhibit ‑‑ the VECC exhibit, the spreadsheet, K9.3.  If you look at column 4, the amount that was allocated to the CEO department ‑‑ sorry, to EGD from the CEO department, according to the CAM report, is $402,200.  Do you accept that?


MR. MEES:  Sorry, can you repeat that again?


MR. De VELLIS:  The amount allocated to EGD from the CEO department under the CAM report ‑‑


MR. BROWN:  I believe, if I could just ask, that we are trying to compare a service represented by the amount for the CEO of $91,000 in the prior ‑‑


MR. De VELLIS:  No, I understand.  Pardon me for cutting you off.  The only way that -- because of the way the methodology is presented, the only way to compare it is to look at the individual components of each service and compare the total allocation for that department in the previous methodology to the methodology ‑‑ to the allocation for that department in the current methodology.  


So what we have presented here is CEO in 2005, the allocation ‑‑ well, your initial allocation was $402,200.  It's been reallocated to other departments, according to the Deloitte initial review.  That's what RA -- but in the 2006 Deloitte ‑‑ or the RCAM, the amount allocated to EGD from the CEO department is $866,142.

     MR. MEES:  You really have an apples and oranges comparison here.  There are a number -- a number of changes and differences and I can just name a few.  If you look at the 2005 claim, column 4, that is -- was CAM.  And, again, it was not a service-based approach, it was just -- this is the allocation from that department, and it was not based on time, where in 2006 - so, column 6 - we have a service-based approach.  

     And, I understand, what VECC has done, is summed up all of the different services, combined within that previous schedule, and totalled them up.  But again, this is a service-based approach, using time.  And the key difference here is, these are -- column 6 is fully loaded.  Column 4 is not fully loaded, so it doesn't include the cost of benefits, other compensation, rent, all of that stuff.  Column 6 is a fully loaded cost.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I am only asking you about the amounts.  

     MR. MEES:  I understand.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  The amounts go from 402,000 to 866,000.      

     MR. MEES:  Absolutely.  And that's why, in order to understand, fully, the difference, you need to understand background behind -- that column 4 and column 6 really can't be compared.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, will the CEO department provide additional service in 2006 for the board of directors' support, that it’s not providing in 2005? 

     MS. DuPONT:  No --  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay. 

     MS. DuPONT:  -- there would not be significant differences. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  All right.  So the differences that we're talking about here, are, the difference in the method of counting the service?  It's not in the service provided? 

     MS. DuPONT:  That is correct.        

     MR. MEES:  Again, column 4 is not a service-based approach, so -- absolutely. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, fine.  But my question was -- well, anyway, the question’s answered.  

     And if you look to another component of that service, the group V-P corporate resources, and the allocation in 2005 - that's at line 13 of Exhibit K9.3 - 207,800, and it was reduced to 79, 274 by Deloitte.  Do you agree with that? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I would agree with that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  And then, with Deloitte's new methodology, it’s increased to $453,678.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  A key thing - and this is an excellent example - to show -- if you look at column five, the Deloitte actual, and, as you indicated, the number there was 79,274.  If you remember, I talked about, in my evidence in chief, that Deloitte did not have -- they had insufficient information to do a calculation.  So they had to make some assumptions.  So I’m actually going to read from the group V-P corporate resources, in the Deloitte report.  It can be found at page 53 of the Deloitte report --  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Sorry where -- 

     MR. MEES:  -- it's in your tab 5.  And if you would turn to page 53, if you look at the conclusion down at the bottom --

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Which appendix are you in? 

     MR. MEES:  Okay.  Sorry.  I'm in appendix 8. 

     MS. NOWINA:  K9.2? 

     MR. MEES:  K9.2. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Tab 5. 

     MR. MEES:  Tab 5.  I apologize.  

     MR. BROWN:  Appendix 8, page 52.  

     MR. MEES:  Sorry.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes, there’s more than one page 53.  

     MR. MEES:  Thank you.  With all this paper, it is -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  The first page 53?

      MR. BROWN:  It's close to the back of tab 5.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Not the first page 53.  

     MR. MEES:  No, it's near the end. 

     MS. NOWINA:  The last page 53.  

     MR. MEES:  I would think so.  I think it would be very close to the back.  It's number 30 --  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I think we have at that.  

     MR. MEES:  -- the group V-P corporate resources.  And what this is -- this was Deloitte's -- they went through each of the departments, and tried to convert it to a service-based approach, and to come up with what should be included in 2005 rates.  

     So, if you look on page 53, under the "Conclusion":

 “Until the information required for the recommended allocations is available, 60 percent of the costs of these should be allocated to EGD, on the same basis as the director fees and expenses, which is half of this SCER calculation.”  

     So, they've -- they didn't have the information.  They did their best to come up with a calculation.  And the true difference now is, now we have the time estimates, and we have the service-based approach.  And that's why there is a big difference.  

     If you read further on, it says they have used the low-end -- the last line, the low-end of the time estimate that they had come up with.  They were conservative in their number.  So you have to -- have to be careful when looking at the Deloitte allocation for 2005, because they had to make some assumptions, because CAM was not suited for this purpose.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, the result, then, of -- the new information resulted in an increase from $79,274 to $453,608? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, it did, based on the time study that was completed, and the allocations that were -- allocators that were chosen. Yes, that's the difference.  As I’d indicated, Deloitte had a very conservative number.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  So the information they had, originally, was so deficient that they only had a quarter of the costs that should have been allocated for that department? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  I'm sure there is a couple -- there probably are some other differences, but, essentially, you're correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  This was the report -- the review that was done pursuant to the Board's order in RP-2002-0133? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. De VELLIS, if I can interrupt for a moment.  I believe you said your cross was going to take 90 minutes.  You're well over an hour into it, so I just wanted to get a time-check, to see if you thought you were still on track.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  I believe I am on track, yes. 

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  The other thing that I would ask you, and others, to take note, is that, if you're going to be referring to a number of references and trying to compare those references, you might give us the references and tell us that you're going to do that ahead of time, so that the witness panel can keep all of those references open, and we can, as well, just to expedite the process a little.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     So the Board ordered an independent review of the CAM methodology in RP-2002-0133.   That's -- an excerpt from that decision is found at tab 1 of Exhibit K9.2, and that review is found at tab 5 of K9.3? 

     MR. MEES:  Sorry.  Yes, that's correct, that's what I was referring to earlier.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And that's the review that, you say, is so deficient that it missed $374,000 in 

allocation -- 

     MR. MEES:  I would not say --

     MR. De VELLIS:  -- for that department? 

     MR. MEES:  I would not say “deficient.”  It just didn't have all of the information that was required.  Deloitte did their best, given the information that was provided to them, but I think they would agree that the information was insufficient.   They indicate that throughout the report.  


MR. De VELLIS:  So you will agree, then, that the amount that EGD is now being asked to pay for board of directors' support would be significantly higher than the amount that it would be paying, for example, in 2005 for the same services?


MS. DuPONT:  Would you repeat that, please?


MR. De VELLIS:  Looking at the various components of the services that comprise board of directors' support, we've seen a couple of them.  I realize we're looking at the total department budgets for EI for those services, but we've seen significant increases in those departments.  


I won't go through all of them, but I believe if we did, we would find significant increases in all of the departments that make up the board of directors' support.


So in view of that, would you agree that the amount that EGD is paying -- is being asked to pay in 2006 for board of directors' support is significantly greater than the amount for 2005?


MR. MEES:  No, I would not agree.  It's too hard to compare.  When Deloitte calculated and tried to develop a service‑based approach in 2005, what they had for board of directors' support could have been totally different than what we have for total board of directors' support today.


They did their best.  I'm not even sure they had a total board of directors' support that would compare to today.  So I don't think we can say that there has been an increase or decrease, because we just don't know.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that's why I was going through the various departments.  If you want, we can go through all of the departments that make up board of directors' support.


The CEO department, there is no allocation in the Deloitte’s review, but in the initial amount it was 402,000, increased to 866,000; CFO, from 156,300 to $345,000.


MR. MEES:  But I have already indicated that there is a difference between these ones, the department -- just the department expenses, and 2006.  Column 6 is a fully loaded cost.  You're comparing apples to oranges.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that's what I'm asking.  It is significantly greater than in 2005?


MR. MEES:  No.  They're just grouped differently.  You can't compare the two as you've shown in line 2.  You can't compare those two lines, and that's why I'm having difficulty saying that it has increased or decreased.  We just don't know.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, all of the components ‑‑ all of the departments that make up the board of directors' support, there's an increase in allocation from 2005 to 2006?


MR. BROWN:  I don't know how we can make that conclusion, given that 2005 there is no service‑based methodology to cost that service.  We cannot compare it to 2006.


None the columns, 2003 through 2005, are on the same basis as 2006.


MR. De VELLIS:  We'll have to leave that to argument, I suppose.


The next area I wanted to ask about was business development.


MR. MEES:  That, I believe, is for panel 2.


MR. De VELLIS:  Right.  I understand that that is what your schedule says, but, Mr. Player, you're identified as the service recipient in the service schedule.


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  I will explain the reason for that.  It was the time we were doing a reorganization in Enbridge Gas Distribution, and Mr. Pleckaitis was moving into a new role.  Mr. Luison, who is now head of the area, is in that role.  


So during that interim period of time when it was needed to be signed, there really ‑‑ I guess I was the default guy for this thing, but I'm not prepared to answer any questions on business development.


MR. De VELLIS:  I can save my questions for tomorrow's panel, then.


MR. MEES:  That would be appreciated.


MR. De VELLIS:  That will shorten my examination, too, although it will increase tomorrow's.


Okay.  Then the last area I want to ask about is capital market access and financing, and investor services.


MR. MEES:  Which schedule did you want to refer to?


MR. De VELLIS:  I'll be referring to two, I guess, simultaneously, so if you want to leave them both open, and that's Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 49 and following, and the same exhibit, at page 93, is the service -- schedule for investor services.


Can you explain how capital market financing and access relates to investor services?


MR. BOYLE:  If I can answer that, the capital markets financing access is the activity of coming to market, if you will, and issuance, and attracting new investors and maintaining a liquid secondary trading market with the salespeople in that section.  When I say secondary market, I mean purchases of issues that have already been made by the company and that are basically traded between investors, as opposed to purchasing from a company directly.


So capital markets finance access is the issuance of the debt or equity or preferred shares, as the case may be, and dealing with the market on the issuance itself; whereas the investor services aspect tends to be the maintenance of the investor relations efforts, to answer enquiries that -- they may be concerned about holding an investment or trading an investment to a greater level, and that would be equity and debt and preferred shares, as well.  


 MR. PLAYER:  If I could just add to those remarks, I think the investor services one, if I could put it in just two or three words, is really maintaining investor confidence in that current investment.


MR. De VELLIS:  And investor services have a cost to EGD of $1,645,234?


MR. PLAYER:  That is correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  And do those costs relate to EI obtaining capital for its investment in EGD?


MR. PLAYER:  They do.  We have a number of debt issuances that are done and have to be maintained, and so that maintenance of those debt investors, discussions with those investors and institutions and analysts around that credit rating agency, et cetera, would be entailed in that.


MR. De VELLIS:  Part of that would also be the equity investment, the cost of raising equity investment?


MR. PLAYER:  Of Enbridge Inc., you're saying?


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, because that ultimately gets to our ultimate end shareholder, right.


MR. De VELLIS:  Right.


MR. BOYLE:  I'm sorry, I distinguish the cost of issuing the equity -- the transaction where we issue equity would be in the capital markets financing and access category, but the maintenance of the investor and queries that may come from owning the common shares would be in the investor services section. 


MR. De VELLIS:  So in these two service schedules, EI is asking to be reimbursed for its costs of raising and I guess liaising with equity investors?


MR. BOYLE:  Not directly, no, because the issuance of the capital market and financing access I focussed was Enbridge Gas Distribution-specific transactions, that being term debt issuances and preferred share re-financings that Enbridge Gas Distribution has done.


In fact, over the last three‑and‑a‑half years, Enbridge Inc. has only come to the equity market twice; whereas Enbridge Gas Distribution has been in the market six times for financings.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, if you look at the investor relations department component of capital-market financing and access, and if we just flip back to School's No.19, page 4 -- that's Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19.  

     MR. MEES:  Bear with us.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Oh, sorry.  Sorry, that's also included at tab 13 of our compendium.  I should have indicated that earlier.  

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, which number were you referring to?   Was it -- in School's -- 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  Number 19.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  Which number within page 4 were you referring to?  Or you just -- 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Oh, it's page 4 --

     MR. MEES:  Okay.

     MR. De VELLIS:  -- under “Capital-Market Financing and Access.” It's line 26.  The allocation from -- the component of that derived from investor relations department at EI is 422,856? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I believe that’s line 25? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  25, yes.  And for investor services, which is on page 6, you see the component from investor relations at EI is 433,703? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  Yes, we have that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And the service description in the service schedule at -- for capital marketing and financing access, at the bottom of page 49 -- it says:  

"The investor-relations department supports this service by developing and maintaining investment-community contacts."  

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  And then, at page 59, there’s a description for investor services for the -- sorry, investor-relations contribution to investor services, at the bottom of page 59:

“The investor-relations department provides support to this service by acting as a primary point of contact for all investor and analysts-related enquiries, and is responsible for coordinating and managing all investor-communication activities.” 

     MR. MEES:  Right.          

     MR. De VELLIS:  Aren't those services very similar? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  They're similar.  Existing shareholders have phone numbers, and prospective investors have phone numbers.  And to make a short example of it -- and both groups, if I could distinguish them - prospective and existing - would require communication.  

     And the quantum of the numbers that you see represent results of our time study, staff-member by staff-member, in addressing those services.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  If I can get back to my earlier question.  Isn't the cost of raising equity and communicating with equity investors -- shouldn't that be a shareholder responsibility? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  Can you repeat the question, please. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  The cost of raising equity and communicating with equity investors, shouldn't that be a shareholder responsibility?  In other words, shouldn't Enbridge Inc. bear those costs? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  Well, as we know, the utility requires capital.  Enbridge provides that capital, on an on-demand basis, and requires access to capital, itself, to fund that.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, Enbridge Inc. receives a return on equity, which is embedded in the cost of service; correct? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  That's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And that's its return for its investment in EGD; is that right? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  That's right.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  So, in addition to that, Enbridge also wants to be compensated for the costs of raising capital -- raising equity investment and communicating with equity investors? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Well, if we had stand-alone business, here, we would certainly incur that cost, of having to do that.  I mean, it doesn't come free.  And, quite frankly, if you consider this as a -- I don't know, I mean, there’s many issues that go into this thing.  You can talk about governance, you can talk about funding.  You can talk about, sort of, compliance activities.  If you're going to stay in business, you need money to be able to do it.  

     Who benefits from that money that's put into a company?  I would maintain that the customers of that company, or the ratepayers, would benefit from that.  Because, quite frankly, if we don't put the money into that company -- or Enbridge Inc. doesn't put the money into us, so we can invest in plant on the ground, the whole system breaks down.  People get cold.  It doesn't work.   You've got to be able to fund yourself, and there's a cost of doing that.  Whether we do it ourselves, as a stand-alone company, and incur more costs to do it, or whether we do it through Enbridge Inc. on our behalf, on an efficient basis, with savings to the ratepayers -- that's another way of doing it, and that's what we've chosen to do.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, that's what the return on equity is supposed to compensate for, isn't it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  The return on equity compensates you for the capital you've currently got invested in the company.  But if you have to raise new capital, there's no cost base there.  Because we're in a cost-of-service environment here, and we have to recover our costs.  If we were doing it ourselves, we would recover our costs, and we would get a return on the capital we've got invested.  But if you have to raise new capital, you have to go out and spend money to do that.  

     And part of raising that new capital is to keep investors confident in their investment, to go out and market to new investors and new parts of the marketplace, to get their interest in the entity, as well.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  

     Thank you, panel. 

     Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De VELLIS.  

     Mr. Thompson, I think you are next.  And because of the Board’s schedule, we would like to break closer to 1:15 or in that -- or, sorry, 12:15, and return at 1:30.  So if you can -- if you have an area of questioning that will take about 20 minutes, then we’ll start with you.  If that it’s inconvenient, we will take the break now.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I think I can fill in the time.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, let me begin, if I might, just trying to put in context the claim here.  The amount being claimed for corporate-cost allocations, for 2006, is, I believe, $21.3 million?  Have I got that number correct? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, you do, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And the Board-approved amount, for 2005, is $13.5 million? Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So the difference is $7.8 million, subject to check?  Would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I would.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And for a $21.3 million claim, a $7.8 million increase over Board-allowed, we seem to have attracted a lot of witness panels; would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  I would agree that there are three panels, yes.  


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  This seems to be an item of high priority for somebody; is that fair?


MR. PLAYER:  I think it would probably be a very high priority if you're not recovering all the costs.  We are incurring a significant cost in Enbridge Gas Distribution that is not being recovered from ratepayers, and we believe that there are services there that we need recovery for, and that, hence, we're putting together, I think, quite a strong amount of evidence here to attempt to show the Board that there is value for these services that we're receiving.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we will get to that in a minute, Mr. Player.  But just running through the panel line-up, I make it that we have attracted seven people from Calgary.  There's seven EI people - would you take that subject to check - on the two panels?


MR. MEES:  Certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  And five of them are VPs; correct?


MR. MEES:  Subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And I think we have three EGD people.  Some are common to more than one panel.  Would you take that subject to check?  I hope I've got -- there's you, Mr. Mees, and there's ‑‑


MR. MEES:  I believe there is more than just three.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will have to do my count again.  Then we have attracted an experts panel, as well.


Now, how many people at EI are involved in providing all of these services that are being allocated to EGD?  Can somebody help me with that, with the high-level estimate?


MR. BROWN:  Subject to check, we asked 129 people, I believe, to do the time study.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, so 129 bodies.  Is this part of their time, providing services to EGD, or is it 129 FTEs?


MR. BROWN:  129 people were asked to prepare the time study.


MR. THOMPSON:  And do we have an estimate of how many FTEs are -- at EI are providing services to EGD or expected to provide services to EGD in the test year?  Is that somewhere in the record?


MR. MEES:  I don't believe it is on the record, Mr. Thompson, and I'm not sure if we have it available.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, in any event, it's not 129.  It's something less; is that correct?


MR. MEES:  Correct.  It would be a portion of the 129.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And just at the receiving end, how many people at EGD are involved in requesting and receiving the services?  Let's just take requesting first.


MR. MEES:  It's difficult to say how many people would be requesting.  We do have five service recipients -- actually, there might be more than just five.  There's probably six or seven service recipients who have signed off on the service schedules, and then they - they're fairly senior people - have other people underneath them that deal directly with the Enbridge Inc. corporate people.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do I take it, then, that the people that EGD, who signed these sheets that are attached to the services agreement, are the people that request the services, in effect, in advance of the test year?  And there's less than ten.


MR. MEES:  They are the people accountable for what -- the services that they're receiving, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what about people in the various departments?  Do they ‑‑ are they involved in phoning up EI and say, I need your help, or do they have any idea what EI is doing?  Do they have any contact with EI people?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  The staff in Enbridge Gas Distribution have regular communications with Calgary on these services and, in fact, are the, probably, primary recipients of most of the services and the way we operate.  That doesn't mean to say that those of us who have signed these sheets don't have service requirements that we deal with with Enbridge Inc., but certainly there are many, many more people than just the service recipients that are getting services and understand what those services are.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what number, approximately, of people in EGD are involved in this regular communication to the people at EI as service providers?  Can you help me with that?  Again, I'm just looking for a reasonable estimate.


MR. MEES:  It is very difficult to say.  It would be in the neighbourhood of 100, I would think.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 100 in EGD interact --


MR. MEES:  Sorry, I stand corrected.  It would be more than 100, I am told.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you want to give me another estimate?


MR. MEES:  All I can say it is more than 100.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  More than 100 at EGD interact with about 129 at EI.


And so it would seem to follow from that that people who will be appearing later on the O&M panels should have some knowledge of what EI is doing.  Can we expect that from these people?


MR. MEES:  Absolutely, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay, I want to just move to the chronology leading to these claims of $21.3 million in this case.  I would ask you to turn up your pre-filed evidence, Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1.


You will also need to have at hand the Board's decision in the 0133 case, and you can find that in a couple of places.  I think it is in Mr. De Vellis's brief at tab 1.  You can also find it in the IGUA testimony at tab 2.


MR. MEES:  Yes.  We have both the Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, along with the Board's findings.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I just want to fill in some gaps here in the chronology that were not mentioned in your pre-filed or in your evidence in‑chief this morning.


Now, in the pre-filed, in paragraph 1, you say:   

"Enbridge uses an integrated approach to the management of its corporate and business unit segments."


The reference to Enbridge there is to Enbridge Inc.; correct?


MR. BROWN:  I believe that does mean the enterprise as a whole.


 MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the company that uses an integrated approach for the management of its corporate and business units is Enbridge Inc.  This is the parent company.  Can we not agree on that?


MR. MEES:  I think we can agree to that.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the company that allocates costs to its corporate and business units is Enbridge Inc.; fair?


MR. MEES:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so I suggest to you the company primarily interested in obtaining approval of the proposed methodology that you've advanced in this case is Enbridge Inc.; would you agree?


MR. PLAYER:  No, I wouldn't agree with that, Madam Chair, because the company that's probably most interested is like any customer.  The customer wants to buy a service.  I want to buy a service.  I need a service.  I'm buying it from Enbridge Inc., just like my gas ratepayer wants to buy a service from me in Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, when you buy a service, Mr. Player, from an arm's-length third party, do you normally go to the arm's-length third party and say, What's your budget for the next year?   I would suggest ‑‑


MR. PLAYER:  No.  When I went in and picked up gasoline yesterday, I didn't think I phoned up PetroCan and said, What's your budget?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, I wouldn't think so, either.  You would normally, if you're buying services from an arm's-length third party, request the service, specify what it is; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  You would have a legitimate arm's-length debate about price; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  If it's a competitive situation, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  And then you would agree in advance on services and price, and then once the service was provided, you would pay for it?


MR. PLAYER:  But wasn't the issue that you raised that it's Enbridge Inc. that has the interest in this as opposed to Enbridge Gas Distribution?  And that's what I dispute.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Could you answer my question, please.  I'm here to answer ask the questions.  You're here to answer them. 

     MR. PLAYER:  And what was the question?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  My question was, normally, if it's an arms-length arrangement with the service provider, the party requesting the service would specify what's needed, service -- they’d agree on price, and the service provider would charge for the service after it had been rendered.  Do you agree? 

     MR. PLAYER:  The charge would take place.  Typically, there would be a negotiation in advance of that.  But, generally, I think your line of discussion is appropriate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that contrasts to what we have here, which is, you've already signed requests for services.  This is -- these are these things that are attached to the services agreement for January, 2006.  Is it fair to describe that as -- well, it's not really a request for service:  it's a description of services that's based on Deloitte speaking, first, to Enbridge Inc., and then, speaking to EGD to say, Yes, we need that.  Is that a fair characterization? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That was in advance of the service agreement being signed.  Is that what you're saying? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the whole service agreement -- it becomes effective January 1, 2006.  So here we've got an agreement well in advance of the period when the services are supposedly to be provided.

     MR. PLAYER:  So we've had an arrangement made in advance, so we're protected from cost increases prior to January of '06.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now the basis for the pricing is Enbridge Inc.'s budget.  Do I understand that correctly? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And it's Enbridge Inc.'s 2006 budget? 

     MR. BROWN:  The basis was the 2005 Enbridge Inc. budget.  Most services were inflated at a CPI of around 2 percent.   Certain other costs, such as insurance and stock-based compensation, were priced separately.  Effectively, the basis is the '05 budget, inflated to represent '06, as the ‘06 budget is not yet final. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it’s the ‘05 budget, inflated for 2 percent.  Do I understand that correctly, Mr. Brown? 

     MR. BROWN:  Correct.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  

     Now, Mr. Player, what scrutiny have you made of the Enbridge Inc. budget? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I don't scrutinize the Enbridge Inc. budget.  I simply scrutinize the costs that I‘m being -- are being proposed for the various services, and looking at the value that I get from those, versus alternative means of doing it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Just following up on that, the -- there’s apparently 21.3 million of services that EGD has contracted for from EI, for 2006.  What portion of the 21.3 is your baby, Mr. Player? 

     MR. MEES:  Bear with us, Mr. Thompson.  We can come up with that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Again, an estimate, subject to check.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes. We're trying to come up with a quick estimate -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

     MR. MEES:  -- in the interest of time, with lunch approaching.   

     It's approximately $10 million.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  $10 millions.  

     Now, Mr. Player, what do you do to satisfy yourself that you got $10 million worth of service after the fact? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Well, I didn't get the service after I signed the schedules.  The service will be coming January of '06.  I’ve now signed the schedules -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right. 

     MR. PLAYER:  -- signed those in March of ‘04 -- or, '05.  What did I do?  Well, -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe I should say, what will you be doing to satisfy yourself that you got 10 million? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, you're talking about after the fact.  I'm sorry, you did say “after the fact.” 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think I did. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  If I didn't, I meant to.    

     MR. PLAYER:  No, you did.  My apologies.  The --there's a number of, sort of, criteria we use, depending on the particular service that's involved.  But it's not simply sitting back and saying, Okay, let's just write the cheque.  

     On an ongoing basis -- and again, you really need to go service-by-service, there are performance criteria for a number of these things, including surveys, that we would, within our own group, determine:  Are you getting the quality?  Is the timeliness there?  Was the full service provided, as required?  In the case of things like auditing and accounting advice, Was it fulsome?  Was it accurate?  

     So, you know, you really do need to take it service-by-service, but we do go through that and satisfy ourselves that we did get good value.  If we didn't get good value, or even during the year, if we find we're not getting service as requested, or according to the schedules, then you -- it, kind of, goes up -- I don't want to call it a “formal” dispute-resolution-type process, but I guess it would get there, if one had to.

     For instance, one of my staff is not satisfied.  They advise me.  I contact my counterpart in Enbridge Inc.  And if I don't get any satisfaction out of that, then I would go to the president, Mr. Schultz, to deal with it.  

     So there is rigour.  This is not just something that's done once a year, and revisited the next year, when it’s time to pay.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is this kind of ongoing review taking place as we speak?  In other words, is it part of the current regime? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And are there any examples in the evidence of the surveys that you've talked about, and the responses to the surveys?  These are surveys of your own staff, I gather, are they? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's right.  Where I sit down with my department and I talk to my department and -- you know, on an issue -- perhaps, on changing year-end, as we've just gone through, and -- did you get satisfactory involvement with Enbridge Inc. on the issues around the accounting for this?  Did it come on time? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is this all verbal -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  I know we didn't put these into evidence, but it’s just a way of -- that you do business.  The same way that, I guess, we would do business with a third-party provider.  We're constantly monitoring performance, and commenting back and, I guess, critiquing performances that are associated with any service we get.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is this substantially verbal, Mr. Player? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it would be.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So there’s no written survey process that is followed, after the fact, to verify both service and value? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Not in my group.  I don't do written-type surveys.  I don't know, they're good for some things.  I would rather see somebody, eyeball-to-eyeball, and determine what the real issues are.  Often times, when you do these surveys - “fill in 1 to 5" - you don't get the real essence of what is underneath it.  And it’s kind of -- you know, then you have to go back and ask the question, anyway.   So why not ask the question up-front, get the answer and deal with it?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Mees, is there any formal, written survey-process being conducted now? 

     MR. MEES:  Not currently.  But, as I had indicated earlier, we expected to have the performance-review process, shortly, and it is built into the service-level agreement that we have with Enbridge Inc. on this.  

     So, going forward, there will be regular performance reviews and there will be written -- formal, written confirmation, as indicated in the service-level agreement.  

     MS. DuPONT:  I think it would be worth noting, as well, if I may, Mr. Thompson, that, when we do our performance reviews of our senior-level staff, those that are involved in providing services to the affiliates come under some additional scrutiny, insofar as -- for example, in the case of service provision through the human resources department, I would confer with the president of Enbridge Gas Distribution, Jim Schultz, as to his level of satisfaction with the services that are being provided out of the corporate office in that particular area.


MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps just one other question, Madam Chair, before we break, if that's appropriate.


Attached in their evidence, and has been referred to earlier -‑ I don't think we need to turn then up, but at Exhibit A6, tab 1, schedule 10, appendix 1, there is a copy of the agreement that's to prevail for the period commencing January 1, 2006, and then there is another agreement attached to the Deloitte evidence.  It's appendix 10 to their evidence.


Is there any difference between the two documents, to your knowledge?


MR. MEES:  To my knowledge, there is not any difference.  What is included under A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1 is the final copy.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Am I correct that there is no regulatory out in these contracts?  What I mean by that, if the Board doesn't rubber stamp the $21.3 million, Enbridge Gas Distribution will pay to EI $21.3 million?


MR. PLAYER:  I'm afraid I've never known the Board to rubber stamp anything, but we will definitely be paying the full amount of the allocation, because we believe that is the right amount to pay, and we will take what the recovery we get from the ratepayer based on this decision is.


MR. THOMPSON:  So in terms of what you're going to pay, the Board's decision in this case is not going to influence that one way or another?


MR. PLAYER:  The Board's decision influences rate making, and so that sets our revenue line.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. PLAYER:  But how we operate this company, if we feel we need to spend more money than we're getting recovered in rates, we will do so.


MR. THOMPSON:  This would be an appropriate time to break, Madam Chair, if it is convenient for the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  It is, thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We will adjourn now and reconvene at 1:30.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:20 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 1:40 p.m.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Our apologies for the delay.   

Mr. Thompson, are you ready to resume? 

     MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chair, just before Mr. Thompson continues, I just have one comment -- or observation to make regarding something he raised in his cross-examination before lunch.  And it was -- and I don't want to misquote him, but it was regarding the ability of our upcoming O&M witness panels to address -- or deal with the corporate services, given their involvement in them. 

     And I just wanted to assist the Board with any scheduling issues -- or parties' preparation for cross-examination in making this remark.  But as I made note of, in my opening remarks for this panel -- these three panels that are coming forward, it is really these witnesses, on these three panels, that are prepared to deal with the corporate-cost-allocations issue, and the related services and costs.  

     The company has not constituted its upcoming O&M panels to deal with the corporate-cost allocations contained in the O&M budget.  So I just wanted to make that clear for parties.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     Just before I proceed, there is an Exhibit I would like to file.  It's the -- part of the appendix.  It’s table 1 in the appendix to the settlement agreement, in the 2003 case. 

     The settlement agreement is found at tab 4 of the IGUA testimony, Exhibit L11.1, but I omitted to include the table that was part of the settlement agreement, and I was wondering if I could have -- I probably should mark it separately, rather than stick it in the book.  And I’ve provided copies to everyone here, as well as to Mr. Battista.  He tells me that he now marks the exhibit numbers on these for you before they're distributed, and that it's Exhibit K9.4.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

EXHIBIT NO. K9.4:  TABLE 1 IN THE APPENDIX TO THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT FROM THE 2003 CASE, THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT ITSELF BEING FOUND AT TAB 4 IN OF THE IGUA TESTIMONY, EXHIBIT L11.1

     MR. THOMPSON:  So with that, if I could continue, just a couple of points, panel, to clarify.  

     Mr. Player, you indicated you're responsible for about 10 million of the 21.3 million, before the luncheon break; is that correct? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do I understand that this panel covers 10 of the 21 million, that is, your 10 million and the service providers for that 10?  Or have we got a mismatch? 

     MR. PLAYER:  No.  I think we have apples and apples, here. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that the Enbridge Inc. people are service providers for the 10 million that Mr. Player requires?  Have I got that straight?

     MR. GRUENDING:  I think that’s the way we set this panel up, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.  

     Now, Mr. Player, just another point.  What comparators did you use to satisfy yourself that 10 million was reasonable? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Madam Chair, we looked at this on a service-by-service basis and, for each service, we would then assess, what would it take to do this on a stand-alone basis?  And we had Deloitte's input on that, as well.  

     For most of these services it did not seem appropriate, as I indicated in my earlier testimony, to go outside for them.  A lot of them are very much linked to the advantages and synergies that we get from other business units in the group.  

     So I can't say that we went out and market-tested a lot of these, but we did look at the amount of time that would be associated with it.  And, in many cases, saw what would a consulting charge be, based on similar kinds of hours.  So, it was on that basis that we got a -- what would you say? I guess, a “thumbnail” perspective on a view of reasonableness in the charges that were being assessed.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is there anything in writing on this -- on the comparators applied and considered? 

     MR. PLAYER:  There would be specific services, Madam Chair, that we did that.  An example would be the bench-marking on the insurance costs, which we could bring forward.  And that's -- I think that was a $4.9 million cost out of the 10-ish. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that it?      

     MR. PLAYER:  I'm racking my brain to see what other ones would be there, but let's just say that's it, for now.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's it, for now.  Okay.  

     Now, in the pre-filed evidence, A6, tab 10, schedule 1, page 2, paragraph 5, the last three lines suggest that one of the criteria to be considered was stand-alone public entities listed on the TSX.  Do you see that, Mr. Mees or Mr. Player? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, we see that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, I went through the evidence.  I didn't see any comparables from TSX companies that were used.  Did I miss something? 

     MR. MEES:  No, we did not file anything in that regard.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So there’s nothing by way of comparables from the TSX?

     MR. MEES:  No.  This was just -- you know, in our principles, this is what we used, because we wanted to do things on a stand-alone basis:  what would the services be, if we were stand-alone?  And this was one of the tests we have, that it would be a stand-alone public entity, listed on the TSX. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So, in applying that consideration, you didn't have any information from TSX companies that were considered to be comparable?   It was a sort of think-about-it-in-the-shower kind of thing.  Is that the idea? 

     MR. MEES:  I can't say that we did have anything.  Perhaps, Deloitte might have had some things, when they were doing their test -- check of the three-prong test.  So they might have done some checks based on the TSX, but Enbridge Gas Distribution did not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, that's fine.  

     Now, at the break, Mr. Player indicated that, even if the Board disagrees with you as to the amounts to be paid to EI, EGD is going to pay them, in any event.  And that theme is reflected in some of your responses to IGUA's interrogatories.  

     But would -- does the panel agree with me that how much is to be reflected in rates, i.e., what is reasonable for recovery from ratepayers, is for the Board to determine? 

     MR. PLAYER:  We would agree with that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, if you wouldn't mind -- again, just before I get back to the context, here -- turning up the response to IGUA No. 65.  This is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 65, plus attachments.      

     MR. MEES:  We have that, Mr. Thompson.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is everybody on side, here?  If you go to page 10, this is the Deloitte letters of engagement for this RCAM exercise.  But if you go to page 10 of the document, you will see that this document is signed by both Mr. Player and Mr. Boyce.  And I think, in subsequent agreements, the same sort of signature line appears.  

     And I took it from that, that this was a joint effort by Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc..  Do I understand that correctly? 

     MR. MEES:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure where your question -- what your question is.  Mr. Boyce is an Enbridge Gas Distribution employee. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, sorry, then I misunderstood this.  

     So the only contracting party with Deloitte's was Enbridge Gas Distribution, is that what this -- 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But, in terms of the effort involved, will you agree with me, it was a joint exercise, involving EI and EGD? 

     MR. MEES:  Absolutely.  And that -- and in that Interrogatory, Mr. Thompson, IGUA 65, it shows the amount of time, I believe, at the bottom that it was incurred by EGD and Enbridge Inc.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And we see there, in terms of the monies paid to Deloitte for this effort, it appears to be $732,302 for one phase and 214,230 for a second phase, which I make to be a total of about $937,532.  Is that ‑‑ would you take that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  I would take that, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then in terms of the internal time for EGD and EI, the response indicates 66,750 for EGD, 385,700 for EI, for a total, subject to check, of $452,450.  Do you accept that?


MR. MEES:  Subject to check, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it looks like, in terms of EGD effort compared to EI effort internally, EI effort is about six-to-one compared to EGD effort.


MR. MEES:  The primary ‑‑ I was the primary person for Enbridge Gas Distribution, so most of that time is myself.  There is a significant amount of service recipient review time, but primarily it would be me.  


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. PLAYER:  Excuse me.


MR. THOMPSON:  The ratio is about 6:1, though; would you take that, subject to check?  That is 385,700 to 66,750.


MR. MEES:  I would agree, subject to check, it is one-sixth.  Just to put that into context, as I had indicated earlier, there was a time study that involved 129 people and it took about three weeks of their time to complete the time study.  So that is where you're seeing -- why it is so high.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I would suggest to you this is certainly one item in the revenue requirement claim that's being presented here today where EGD is not acting independently of EI.  This is one where you're acting in concert; would you agree?


MR. MEES:  The development of RCAM was a collaborative approach between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc., yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in substance, the contest with respect to this issue is a contest between EI/EGD on the one hand and the ratepayers on the other?


MR. MEES:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?


MR. THOMPSON:  The contest between the reasonable costs for EI to recover from ratepayers is a contest between Enbridge Inc. and EGD on the one hand, acting in concert, versus the ratepayers on the other?


MR. MEES:  No way, no.  The answer is clearly no.  I mean, we ‑‑ we are the service recipients.  Mr. Player is here to discuss that.  And, clearly, you know, he is responsible for the costs within EGD.  The development of the methodology was a collaborative approach, but the sign‑off was strictly for the service recipients.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, the claim has the appearance of a claim by EI through EGD as a conduit to the ratepayers, EGD having exercised no independent assessment of EI's budget or anything of that nature.  Am I missing something?


MR. MEES:  No.  And that's ‑‑ I mean, you have to understand we also had Deloitte involved in this process, so they also reviewed the costs that were received by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  They made sure that they passed all of the ratepayers' tests, the OEB three‑prong test.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's move on, then, to the chronology that I mentioned at the outset, which is described in your testimony ‑ and I wanted you to have it handy ‑ the Board's decision in the 0133 case dealing with corporate cost allocations.  I hope everybody's kept that stuff at hand.


I'm starting with paragraph 2.  If I might, Mr. Mees, I will direct these questions to you, because they're primarily regulatory history-related, if you don't mind, but if anybody wants to jump in, then don't hesitate.


You say in paragraph 2:

"In 2003 Enbridge implemented a new cost allocation CAM that was designed to fairly allocate the corporate costs to affiliates."


And then you say:

"The Board reviewed this methodology in the RP‑2002‑0133 case and ordered that an independent review of CAM be undertaken."


Do you see that?


MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  What you don't mention in your review is that the methodology that you brought forward in the 2003 case was supported by Ernst & Young.  You had another firm supporting your claims in that case.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  I believe we did have, as one piece of evidence, a report from Ernst & Young, yes, in that rate case.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what you don't say in your introductory remarks is that in that case, the 2003 case ‑ and you can see this from paragraph 5.5.3 in the 0133 decision - you were seeking a corporate cost allocation amount of $21.8 million.


Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's correct, based on if I'm looking at the Board's findings at the top of the page.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what you don't say in your chronology in this case is that was up from $11.6 million in 2002.  Do you see that in paragraph 5.5.3?


MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  5.5.2, I'm sorry.  Okay.  And what you don't say in your chronology is that the intervenors in 0133 were vigorously opposed to this increase from $11.6 to $21.8 million.  Would you agree with me that they were vigorously opposed to that claim?


MR. MEES:  "Vigorously" would be your word.  I would say that they are opposed to it, certainly.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we don't do anything other than but vigorously.


[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  And what you don't say in your chronology in this case is the comment that the Board makes in paragraph 6.22 of the reasons in the 0133 case, where the Board stated:  

"The Board is concerned about the significant increase in the corporate cost allocation budget and the potential for cross-subsidization."  


You didn't mention that in the chronology?


MR. MEES:  No, my chronology is a summary.  You're going into a little more detail than I would have.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I suggest to you that it was in the context of that concern, and the other concerns that the Board expressed in its decision, that it directed the independent review that you've mentioned in your chronology.  Would you agree with that?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  And that can be seen, what the Board has been asking for, in that independent review.


MR. THOMPSON:  And as a result of that direction, which included, I may say, at paragraph 6.33, a suggestion that in developing the terms of reference the company might wish to consult with interested parties, EGD did, in fact, consult with interested parties?


MR. MEES:  That's correct, and I mentioned that earlier in my evidence in chief.


MR. THOMPSON:  The decision at paragraph 6.34 authorized the company to recover the costs of the independent review through a deferral account set up for that purpose.  That deferral account was set up, was it?


MR. MEES:  Yes, it was.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And can you just give me, ballpark, what the cost of the independent review that the Board directed in this case was?  Again, big picture, subject to check.


MR. MEES:  Subject to check, ballpark would be just about 400,000.


MR. THOMPSON:  400,000.  Okay, thank you.  And in consulting with intervenors, would you agree with me that intervenors provided some considerable input into how the consultant should proceed?


MR. MEES:  I think that would be fair.  I know that the intervenors did meet with Deloitte at the time and Deloitte sought their input.

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in the VECC brief -- the exhibit number of which I didn't mark, but somebody just give me -- is it K -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  K9.2.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- 9.2, thank you.  K9.2, at tab 5, we have the report of Deloitte's in that particular case -- sorry, the report of Deloitte's that was the result of the directive given in that particular case.  

     MR. MEES:  Correct.  And that was filed in the subsequent case.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And if you would go to page 3 of this document, with respect to consultants, the consultant directing the engagement, I suggest, was John T. Brown Consulting.  

     MR. MEES:  I think it indicates there, Deloitte engaged JT Brown Consulting as a sub-contractor to direct the engagement, yes. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That was originally agreed with EGD.  My point is this:  Mr. Brown - whose qualifications you will find in the appendix 2, a little later on, pages 2 through to 7 - Mr. Brown was the expert that primarily directed this initial exercise.  Would you agree with that, Mr. Mees? 

     MR. MEES:  I would agree with that.  I mean, you're getting into an area where you might have to ask Deloitte, on panel 3, but I can generally say that he led the engagement. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you were involved on behalf of the company -- 

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- on the first go-round?

     MR. MEES:  Yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But in the second go-around, Mr. Brown is not involved.  Is there some reason for that, that you are aware of?  

     MR. MEES:  Not that I’m aware of.  We engaged Deloitte.  They chose, at this time, not to have the sub-contractor.  It was Deloitte we were engaging, not John Brown.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And in the appendices - I won't take you to them - but there were some appendices that were developed, with intervenor input, to help in this exercise, and it involved going back and combining EI and EGD costs, and all of that sort of thing.  

     Would you take, subject to check, that they're in this document? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I remember those documents.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And my point is this, that the intervenors were as much clients of Deloitte & Touche, in this first go-around, as were EGD and EI; would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  It was, after all, for the OEB.  So I would say that the intervenors were as much a client, certainly, for the first engagement. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the intervenors were, in effect, paying for the work, in rates, through the deferral account? 

     MR. MEES:  The ratepayers were paying for it, correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, correct -- the ratepayers.  Good point.   

     Now, what you were claiming in that particular case - and I'm referring to page 2 of the Deloitte report, at tab 5 of Exhibit K9.2 - appeared to be an amount of about $22 million.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I can.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And Deloitte's, after their work, recommended - and I'm referring to page 65 of this report - about $13.4 million, for 2005.  Would you take that, subject to -- it might have been updated, but it was in that ballpark, I think. 

     MR. MEES:  It was 13.5.  It was originally 13.4 -- or, actually, 13.3, I think.  And then it was updated to 13.5.  And again, as I indicated earlier, Mr. Thompson, this was based upon the information that Deloitte had available.  That's what the recommendation was, as best as they could do, based on the information.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well that's their recommendation.  

     And then the company's response to that, and the evidence in the case, I believe we find at Exhibit A6 -- sorry it's at the last page under Exhibit K9.2, which is a one page document, Exhibit A6, tab 17, schedule 4, of the company's pre-filed, in the 2003 case.  

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I didn't get that reference.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  It's the last page in my book, in Exhibit K9.2, which is the one page of evidence the company filed in response to the Deloitte -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  The last page of tab 5, Mr. Thompson? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Tab 5, yes.  

     MR. MEES:  Oh, sorry.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  Did I mention the wrong tab? 

     Do you see that, the company's response to the Deloitte consulting report? 

     MR. MEES:  I believe this was the company's initial response.  I think there was something that was filed just a couple of weeks after this.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, in any event, the theme expressed in this filing was that you did not believe that the recommended amount of 13.4 accurately and fairly reflects the level of services provided.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  And I would still say that that’s the case. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, well, that's the theme that was expressed in that filing and probably in the subsequent filing.  Would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  In the subsequent filing, I believe, we agreed to a number of the recommendations that were made within the Deloitte report.  And I think we agreed to complete a new methodology that was service-based approach.  I think that was the -- what followed this one.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But my point is, Mr. Mees, that you were claiming 22 million.  We had the independent experts recommending 13.5.  The intervenors were supporting, as reasonable, the $13.5 million.  Would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  I would agree.  If it was agreed to in the settlement proposal, then, I guess, the intervenors did agree.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, before we got to an agreement, intervenors were pushing for 13.5.  You started your claim at 22.  And it sort of worked its way back, I think, in subsequent filings, to an amount.  But there was a dispute over the amount to be recovered in rates, as a result of your evidence and the evidence from the independent experts, which then went to the settlement conference;  fair? 

     MR. MEES:  Fair, I guess.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And as a result of the settlement conference -- which was a fairly lengthy one, in that case, would you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I believe it was.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  We reached an agreement on the O&M envelope, including -- sorry, excluding DSM, and intervenors insisted that the envelope be allocated; is that fair? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I remember that, yes.     

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And eventually Enbridge agreed to the amount of 286.5, and an allocation of that amount.  Would you -- is that fair? 

     MR. MEES:  That's fair.  And, I guess, that's a part of Exhibit K9.4.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Now, there's another part of it, as well.

     So that, then, brings me to the settlement 

agreement -- the settlement proposal in my book here.  It’s the IGUA exhibit at tab 4, Exhibit L11.1.  

     And if you wouldn't mind turning up page 28 of the settlement agreement, to where we have paragraph 9.1 --  

     MS. NOWINA:  What's the reference again, Mr. Thompson?  I'm sorry. 

 
MR. THOMPSON:  It's tab 4 of IGUA's Exhibit L11.1, the settlement agreement 6, and it's Exhibit N1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 28.  The heading is “2005 O&M Budget”.


I thought you would have this exhibit at hand at all times.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe it's us, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.  You can find it in ...


MR. MEES:  The problem I have with -- if you use the VECC exhibits, it seems to have different page numbers.


MS. NOWINA:  It has different page numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, okay.  Well, it is ‑‑


MR. MEES:  I do have in front of me overall O&M budgets, levels for 2005, 9.1, which -- this is page 28.


MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of the language, it's in K9.2 at tab 3, page 26 in that book.  It's the language of 9.1 that I wanted to refer to.


MS. NOWINA:  We have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  So this was the agreement, Mr. Mees, the parties:

"The parties agree that the company's O&M expense budget for the test year will be 286.5 million plus the amounts included in the DSM O&M budget described under issue 10.1 below.  The parties agree that the O&M expense allowance of 286.5 million is an envelope amount which the company can spend as it wishes.  For the purpose of future budget reviews, the company accepts the intervenors' request to allocate the O&M budget as shown in table 1 attached to appendix A."


That was the agreement; correct?


MR. MEES:  That was one portion of the agreement, Mr. Thompson, but if you also turn to ‑‑ if you have the VECC exhibit, right on the opposite page - it's 9.1.5 - where it is for corporate cost allocations including the Deloitte report, it does say that:

"This settlement is without prejudice to the company's ability to bring forward a new corporate cost allocation methodology in the 2006 rate case."  


Which is why we're here.


MR. THOMPSON:  I wasn't going to leave that out, Mr. Mees.  I will come to it that in a moment.


Just going back to the 9.1 and the reference to table 1, that is a reference to Exhibit K9.4; correct?


MR. MEES:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And in K9.4, it was specified in column 3 that the 2005 ADR corporate cost allocation outcome was $13.5 million; correct?


MR. MEES:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, again, we find it in column 4 as a component of the $286.5 million?


MR. MEES:  Yes, on line 14.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  All right.  And so there was no qualification in this part of the settlement or in the table to the effect that the company wasn't recovering its full costs or that these costs weren't just and reasonable, or anything of that nature; fair?


MR. MEES:  Like I said, we did indicate in the settlement agreement that we would be bringing forward a new methodology in this rate case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what you indicated ‑‑ that takes us, then, to 9.15, which you drew the Panel's attention to, which deals with corporate cost allocations, including the Deloitte report.  The agreement was that the settlement was without prejudice to the company's ability to bring forward a new corporate cost allocation in the 2006 rate case, wherein the company may seek recovery of different costs.  


That's what it says?


MR. MEES:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  It doesn't ‑‑ that, in no way, modifies the agreement in 9.1 that:

"For the purpose of future budget reviews, the company accepts the intervenors' request to allocate the O&M budget as shown in table 1."


Is that fair?


MR. MEES:  We did ‑‑ we did agree to break it out by department and that that would be used for budget reviews.  I would agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  So for the purposes of the 2005 rates, I suggest to you the company unequivocally agreed that the corporate cost allocation amount to be recovered from ratepayers was $13.5 million?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that was what was included in 2005 rates.  That was the amount that could be calculated based on the information that was available at the time.  Like I've indicated earlier, we have new information.  We have the time study.  We have new service schedules, and that's why we brought forth this methodology for review.


MR. THOMPSON:  But for the purpose of future budget reviews, your claim has to be measured against the 13.5 million.  That was the agreement.


MR. MEES:  I guess I'm not sure about measured against.  It would be compared to, certainly.  I think the company has the obligation in each rate case to bring forward and justify its evidence.  And our evidence in this case is for an amount of $21.3 million, and we think we have justified that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, I don't know which EI witness can answer this.  Maybe it's Mr. Boyle.  But can I take it that EI was aware of EGD's agreement in the 2005 rate case?  I know Mr. Boyle was involved in it from time to time, but...

     MR. BOYLE:  I think that is a fair assessment, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry?


MR. BOYLE:  There was an awareness of the settlement agreement, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Was it approved by EI before EGD authorized it?


MR. BOYLE:  I don't know if that was part of the process.  I think it was an EGD issue.


MR. MEES:  No.  It was EGD's responsibility in settlement of the 2005 ‑‑ that settlement proposal had no involvement of Enbridge Inc.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I wasn't talking about that.  Anyway, that's fine ‑‑


MR. MEES:  You indicated that it needed to be approved by Enbridge Inc. prior to us accepting it, and that certainly was not the case.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe I overstated the question.


In any event, Enbridge Inc. is aware ‑‑ was aware of it before it was approved or became aware of it shortly after it was approved; is that fair, Mr. Boyle?


MR. BOYLE:  I would expect so, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MR. BOYLE:  I would expect so, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  Okay.  And the Board then was asked to accept the settlement agreement for the purposes of setting rates for 2005.  Do you recall that, Mr. Mees?


MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.  I think they did accept it.


MR. THOMPSON:  And if you go to the earlier part of IGUA tab 4, which is just the excerpts from the Board's decision dealing with the settlement proposal, you will find that at the ‑‑ it's the third page under tab 4 of the IGUA exhibit.  It's paragraph 1.3.1 of the Board's decision.  Do you see that, Mr. Mees?


MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it describes the filing of the settlement proposal, and so on, but it indicates in the last sentence:   

"The Board's final acceptance of the settlement proposal was given on June 18, 2004.  A copy of the 59-page settlement proposal is attached as appendix B to this decision with reasons."


So the Board acted on the parties' agreement and accepted the settlement.


MR. MEES:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the Board then describes, in paragraph 1.3.3, "the issues as having been completely settled and will not be reviewed in this decision."  Do you see that, the sentence on the page:

“The following issues were presented in the settlement proposal as having been completely settled, and will not be reviewed in this decision.” 

     And if you go over to page 6, issue 9.1.5:

 “Corporate cost-allocations, including the Deloitte report.”     

     Do you see that? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So I suggest to you that any issues with respect to the initial Deloitte report, and any issues with respect to corporate cost-allocation in 2005, are over and done with.  They were settled, and the Board acted on the settlement; do you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  I would agree that the Board was not going to make any changes to the corporate cost-allocations, including the Deloitte report, in their decision.  I think that’s what -- that's how I interpret the --

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what your chronology, in your pre-filed evidence in this case, fails to reflect, is the existence of this unequivocal and unqualified settlement at $13.5 million, and the Board's approval thereof; do you agree? 

     MR. MEES:  I think that is a bit strong, Mr. Thompson.  As I had indicated earlier, they did accept the settlement agreement.  As part of that settlement agreement, it did indicate that the settlement is without prejudice to the company's ability to bring forward a new corporate cost-allocation methodology in this rate case.  So -- and that’s what we've done.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But to measure its reasonableness, I suggest, against the $13.5 million -- do you agree that that’s what we're here to do?  The 13.5 as the 

Board-approved amount, accepted by Enbridge for the 2005 test year.  That's the point of departure.  

     MR. MEES:  I think that is one point of departure, certainly.  I mean, you have to compare to previous rate cases.  And that is one of the things that we are doing in this rate case:  we are comparing the previous rate case, EBO 493/494. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, fine.  

     Now, in your pre-filed evidence, again, in the text - oops, I'm sorry - you point out in paragraph 3, about halfway through, the company felt that the recommended amount was not an accurate assessment of the costs.  And, as agreed, you went on and do something on your own with -- sorry.  And, as a result, you then went on to do something else with Deloitte's.  That's what you say.  

     MR. MEES:  I didn't hear your reference, but I 

believe -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  It was -- I'm sorry.  It was to the middle of paragraph 3 of the pre-filed: A6, tab 10, schedule 1.  The company felt something, and then you say "as a result" you went ahead, and did something with Deloitte's: something new.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  We developed a new methodology, that's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the new methodology -- do I understand it correctly?  EGD developed and then brought Deloitte's in to help; is that putting it fairly? 

     MR. MEES:  No, that's not fair.  We engaged Deloitte to assist us -- to assist Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Gas Distribution in developing the methodology.  In fact, I would say -- suggest that it was -- the methodology development was, primarily, led by Deloitte.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you engaged Deloitte's to develop a new methodology, and you assisted them.  Is that the way I should read this? 

     MR. MEES:  I think I've indicated that it was a collaborative approach.  We worked together on this.  But they had more resources than we did in this, so they led it.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, the subsequent retention of Deloitte, whether they were the driver, or the person assisting, or a combination, was done without any request for, or granting of, an informed consent from the ratepayer groups that had participated in the first go-around; is that fair? 

     MR. MEES:  I'm not sure it’s totally fair.  I mean, we did meet, in a couple of stakeholder conferences, to let you know what we were doing -- to let the intervenors groups -- the ratepayer groups, as you call them, know what we were doing as far as methodology, what our principles were, what our thinking was, to try to get some feedback from you. 

     Were you engaged as much as you were in the first engagement?  No, I don't think that was the case.

     MR. THOMPSON:  No.

     MR. MEES:  But you have to remember that part of the reason why we hired Deloitte was so that -- we wanted to be consistent with what the initial engagement was.  And that's why we hired them.  They came up with the recommendation.  They involved the intervenors.  We knew what -- they knew what the intervenors were thinking, what they wanted.  And, therefore, we were trying to be consistent with that, and that's why we hired Deloitte the second time. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I suggest to you, Mr. Mees, there was no stakeholder meeting to discuss, clearly and unequivocally, this particular matter.  You may have mentioned at some stakeholder meeting dealing with other issues - and I can recall one, where we were trying to deal with the implementation of the phase-in - about Deloitte's, but I suggest to you, never at any time did Deloitte's ask the intervenor-representatives who had participated in the initial exercise, whether they consented to Deloitte's taking on this retainer with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Would you agree that Deloitte's never made that enquiry? 

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, can you repeat the question just -- so I fully get it?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Deloitte's, who, in the first go-around - if you will - had, as its clients, the ratepayer groups, Enbridge and EI, never, in the second go-around, came to the intervenor-representatives and said, We are taking on a retainer with Enbridge Inc. to do A, B and C.  Do you have -- do you consent?  They never did that.  

     MR. MEES:  No, they did not ask for the intervenors' consent -- or, we did not ask for the intervenors' consent on whether we engaged Deloitte.  We did ask for your input and thoughts as to what we should incorporate in the methodology.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, there is nothing in writing, I don't think, on that.  

     MR. MEES:  No, you're right.  It isn't in writing.  We did present twice to the intervenors, through stakeholder conferences, to involve them, to let them know what we were doing, and get any feedback, if they wished to give any feedback.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think Deloitte's is in a rather awkward position, here.  I guess I’ll take that up with them.  

     MR. MEES:  I don't believe they're in an awkward situation, but you can discuss it with them.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'll move on.  

     Now, I didn't see anywhere in the -- this new study how it relates to the Board-approved amount of $13.5 million.  Is that amount mentioned in the new study, at all, by way of a comparator? 

     MR. MEES:  I believe it is mentioned.  I just don't know the exact part, within the Deloitte report.  We're seeing if we can dig it up. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I think that's fair.  There’s probably a mention of the amount in the text, somewhere. 

     But let me phrase it this way, Mr. Mees:  This new study doesn't use $13.5 million as the starting point for the 2006 budget review.  It proceeds on the basis that the 13.5 was wrong.  

     MR. MEES:  I don't think we're saying that the 13.5 is wrong.  We're just saying - and Deloitte is also saying - that it, basically, was the best amount, based on the information available.  And what we've brought forward -- we have the information now.  And that's what we're saying.  We're not saying 13.5 is wrong.  It was the best we had, based on the information.  So, I'm not sure I agree with your characterization.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, intervenors use it as the point of departure.  

     Let me move to the questions this way.  

     In Exhibit K4 -- sorry, 6.4, in column 5, if I read this correctly, it indicates to me that the company is actually going to pay to EI in 2005 an estimated amount of $24.2 million.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. MEES:  This is not my schedule, but it does appear to be that that's the amount of corporate cost allocations in 2005.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I missed what you said.


MR. MEES:  Sorry.  I would agree that in the 2005 estimate, there is $24.2 million worth of corporate costs.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, subject to check, that is an estimate of what is going to be paid in 2005, despite the $13.5 Board‑approved amount.  Directionally, am I correct?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  That is the amount, I believe, that we will be paying, subject to checking, but I believe that is the case.


MR. PLAYER:  If I could just add to Mr. Mees' remarks, and as I think we discussed this numerous times, Madam Chair, that we are, indeed, paying what is being charged, whatever the services are that we feel are correct, and the amounts that are set in rates are for the purposes of recoveries.


What we pay for any service we'll do what is the -- what we feel is appropriate and fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  We'll leave for argument whether this is an attitude of defiance or not, but I just want to get the fact that it is in that order of magnitude if it's going to be paid.  Now I want to compare what you actually say you're going to pay in 2005 to what you estimate you're going to pay in 2006.  That number appears to me to be $21.3 million.


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that the amounts that you're actually paying are on the decline; have I got that straight?


MR. MEES:  No.  I just want to make sure this is clear.  What we have brought forward in 2006, the $21.3 million, is the number that we feel should be included in rates.


What we are actually paying will be the CAM amount, the cost allocation methodology amount, which is used by the whole -- full corporation of Enbridge for management reporting purposes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So 24.2, in that order, is a CAM-derived amount, and 21.3 is an RCAM-derived amount; have I got that straight?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  And that's why ‑‑ because this is not my schedule, I'm not sure if 24.2 is the ‑‑ but I believe it is the CAM amount.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do we have the 2005 estimated RCAM amount, approximately?


MR. MEES:  We do have that, Mr. Thompson, if you just bear with us.  We just have to find the interrogatory.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. MEES:  That amount can be found at Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 18, page 2 of 3, and you can see there that we show our estimate of the total RCAM allocation to EGD for 2004 actuals, 2005 and 2006.  So the 2005 number would be $19.9 million, approximately.


MR. THOMPSON:  19.9, and so it's going up -- RCAM to RCAM, the increase is about $1.4 million; have I got that right?


MR. MEES:  Yes, that's approximately correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the incremental costs you're actually incurring or you estimate you will incur 2005, 2006 for services provided by Enbridge are about $1.4 million; correct?


MR. MEES:  Sorry, I'm not sure I heard that totally.  If you could repeat the question, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Incremental costs that you estimate you will incur for corporate cost allocations from Enbridge, 2005 to 2006, using the RCAM approach is $1.4 million?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.  Incrementally, the amount ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct.  So if the Board were to use that as the guide for determining the add‑on to the $13.5 that's reasonable, the amount would be $14.9 million.  That's just the math.


MR. MEES:  I mean ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you accept the math?


MR. MEES:  I don't accept the math.  I mean, you're just adding $1.3 million onto 13-1/2-million dollars?  Just picked out two ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  I was using 1.4.  I was more generous than you.


MR. MEES:  $1.4 million for -- you're grabbing apples over here and adding it to oranges, so I don't agree with your math. 


MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I'm using the $13.5 million as the point of departure for future budget reviews in accordance with the agreement.  That's what I'm doing.


Anyway, 13.5 plus 1.4 equals 14.9; do we agree on that, Mr. Mees?


MR. MEES:  That's pretty much all I would agree with in that statement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, you've looked at Mr. Johnson's evidence, have you?  Somebody was addressing it this morning.  I assume ‑‑


MR. MEES:  Yes, we reviewed that and we made a number of comments on it in our evidence in‑chief.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Johnson, in using the 13.5 as the point of departure and the increase in EI's budget 2005 to 2006, is recommending an increase from $13.5 to $14.4 million.  Do you agree that that is what he's recommending?


 MR. GRUENDING:  Have you got a page reference for that, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's Mr. Johnson's testimony.  I was just kind of paraphrasing it at 40,000 feet, but...

     Is there an exhibit number?  It's Exhibit L25.1.  And his initial recommendation is at page 4 of 19, where the amount was $14.250 million, but I believe he was asked in an interrogatory by Enbridge that caused him to clarify his numbers and the number went up to something close to $15.4 million.


Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. PLAYER:  That would appear to be based on the principle of linearity, I would think.  I think what we have attempted to do here is to identify some real changes that have taken place in the external environment and apply those changes, including things like governance, which is fairly significant these days.  But 5 percent increase is the old inflation plus a little bit of customer growth, and away we go.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think in fairness, Mr. Player, he's looking at 2006 over 2005, with 13.5 as the starting point, the Board-approved starting point for 2005.


There is nothing in the 2006 over 2005 scenario, even on your evidence, that would justify a $7.8 million increase over a $13.5 million amount.  Your own evidence indicates 1.4 million.


MR. MEES:  No.  My evidence does not indicate $1.4 million.  We have justified our amount, service by service, based on the meeting the Board's three-prong test and I’m not sure that Mr. Johnson's evidence has done the same.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  In terms of qualifications, is anybody on the panel familiar with Mr. Johnson's qualifications, in terms of this particular issue?  Anybody run up to him before?  He's been a regular witness in energy proceedings for about 30 years, if you look at his CV.  

     Are you familiar with him, Mr. Player? 

     MR. PLAYER:  No, I don't know him, Mr. Thompson. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Anybody from the west?  He's from the west. 

     MR. BROWN:  No, sir.  Never met the man. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  He doesn't live underground.  

     Okay.  Well, we’ll deal with that when he arrives.  

     Another question that Mr. Johnson was asked by Enbridge is question 8, where he was requested to produce some sort of line-by-line analysis.  And again, he did this.  And there’s a response to that that's attached as an appendix.  

     When he goes through the line-by-line analysis, and selects the allocators he suggests are appropriate, the amount for 2006 is closer to $11 million than the $14.4 he recommended using the other approach.  Would you take that, subject to check? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  Yes, I've seen that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.   And so I guess all that points out is that different experts, using different allocators, can come up with significantly different results; would you agree? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Definitely.  And I think, when you look at that, you need to look at the amount of rigour that goes into the analysis.  And I think the amount of rigour that Deloitte’s gone into in this analysis, in developing the -- what is referred to as the “RCAM”, has been very significant.  

     I'm not sure Mr. Johnson had the opportunity to review, to the extent that Deloitte have, in this regard.  I mean, we've taken something -- we came away from it after the last rate case and said, There’s an opportunity to bring something forward in the 2006.  We did a rigorous bottom-up piece of work on this thing, brought it, forward and now we're going down memory lane, again.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, no, I would suggest, Mr. Player, we had the sabre-rattling in the 2005 case.  We reached a settlement, and it's now Enbridge Inc. that wants to go back and revisit -- and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Did you say “and Enbridge Gas Distribution”, I hope? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I did.

     MR. PLAYER:  Good.

     MR. THOMPSON:  I meant to say them first, of course.  They're always uppermost in my mind:  Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc.  

     In any event, that is argument.  Let me wrap up here with a couple of questions.  

     We mention the -- just on the matter of rigour, you can buy a lot of rigour for a million bucks -- putting the ratepayers into rigor mortis, probably.  But -- 

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson.  The ratepayer is not paying for the development of RCAM. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's what I'm going to ask.  The -- we discussed the amounts of the 900,000 some odd, and the internal costs of both companies of close to 400,000 some odd, maybe a little bit over.  

     Has any -- have any of those amounts found their way into any deferral accounts? 

     MR. MEES:  To the best of my understanding, no.  This has been fully funded by the shareholder of Enbridge.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right -- well, as it should be.  And will any of those amounts find their way into deferral accounts, to your knowledge? 

     MR. MEES:  No.  We undertook this because we wanted to do it, wanted to make sure that we recovered the appropriate amount for rates in 2006.  And that's what we wanted -- why we wanted to spend -- and hired Deloitte's.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you, very much.  

     Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.    

     MR. THOMPSON:  Was I on estimate, almost? 

     MS. NOWINA:  You were, pretty well, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I’m getting better.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm looking at the schedule.  

     Mr. Shepherd, are you still proposing 90 minutes? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am, yes, Madam Chair.  And it would be useful to me, if it's convenient for the Board, if we took the break before I started, because I missed some of Mr. Thompson's cross and I don't want to go over his ground.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Sounds like a good reason to take a few minutes.  

     All right.  We’ll take a break until 3 o'clock, then.  

--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.    

     --- On resuming at 3:00 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Before we continue with Mr. Shepherd, I just wanted to mention that, given the hope of completing this panel today, the Board is willing to sit a little bit longer this afternoon.  I don't know where other parties stand on that, and I ask that we move along as quickly as we can, but we are willing to do that.


MR. DINGWALL:  Just a quick response to that, I anticipate I will have some questions for this panel, but I can't be here past 4:00.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Does anyone else have a problem with being here past 4:00?  How much of a problem would it cause if Mr. Dingwall went ahead now, then, ahead of Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not a problem, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, are you prepared to do that?


MR. DINGWALL:  My preference would be to go after Mr. Shepherd, because I know there's ‑‑ I'm looking at more a couple of specific areas.  I know he is going to cover a broader brush.  It's conceivable that his cross may eliminate many of my questions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have a good 90 minutes and I'm going to have to struggle mightily to make it, I can tell you that.  I have three hours of material and I'm going to cut stuff out stuff out just to try to make the 90 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  So, Mr. Dingwall, if we ask you to go now, you're going to have to take longer or you could limit your questions?  I would very much like to complete, if we could.


MR. DINGWALL:  I have some idea of what areas Mr. Shepherd is going to go into, so rather than inconvenience the Board, I will ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Let me ask.  Ms. Persad, do you have any comments on this afternoon's schedule?


MS. PERSAD:  Our panel, as far as I'm aware, is able to stay past 4 o'clock, so that's not a problem for us.  And our second panel will be ready to come on whenever this panel is finished, whether that be today or tomorrow.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


[The Board confers]


MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chair, sorry, before you comment, if I could just make one more comment that I failed to mention.


MS. NOWINA:  Sure.


MS. PERSAD:  And that is our second panel will not be able to come back on Monday.  They will have to come back, I believe, on Tuesday, if they don't finish tomorrow.  So that is the only other caveat.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Dingwall, I will leave it to you, but I don't want you to feel any pressure.  If you're uncomfortable, we will continue tomorrow.  It's going to be a tight squeeze this afternoon, in any case.  So I leave it to you, but I don't want you to feel pressured in terms of your decision.


MR. DINGWALL:  My preference would be to follow Mr. Shepherd and I certainly know where the Board is coming from, so to that extent, I should be in a position, upon reviewing the transcript, to provide an indication overnight as to whether or not I will have anything at all.


MS. NOWINA:  That would require the panel to return in any case tomorrow for re-direct.


MR. DINGWALL:  If the panel is going to have to be back for questions from the Board Staff and re-direct, I don't know how long you're planning on sitting tonight.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm assuming we would complete all of it.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, given the constraints that I'm placed under, I'm content with, if need be, foregoing some questions, and, in that case, there are not millions of dollars turning on the questions that I would be asking at this point in time and I think the number is going to get somewhat smaller.  So I'm not going to hold up the schedule.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  I take that to mean that you will not ask questions now and that if you don't have time this afternoon, that you may not ask questions at all?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's right.


MS. NOWINA:  I really appreciate your cooperation.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, just for the record, does that give me another 20 or 30 minutes?


MS. NOWINA:  It does not, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was just a chance.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player, perhaps I could start with you.  The RCAM is a cost‑based billing system; right?  I'm sorry I have to ask that, but I asked you the other day about customer care and I was surprised by your answer.  So this is cost based; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  EI is an affiliate of EGD.  EI is providing services to EGD, and the charge for these services is based on the costs to EI of providing those services; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then --


MR. PLAYER:  Excuse me.  Plus this is the one return on capital, the net capital that supports ‑‑ and the capital that supports the corporate office services that are provided to us, which is -- I think it was an allocation in the order of a quarter-of-a-million dollars related to that return on capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's also a cost that's, in fact, allowed, for example, by the Affiliate Relationships Code; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then what you did is you had Deloitte review your numbers to make sure these amounts are not in excess of fair market value, because EGD is not allowed to pay EI more than fair market value for services; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the end, the price to be paid by EGD is the lower of cost and fair market value; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the test you've employed, and I assume that that is the test you're proposing the Board will employ?


MR. PLAYER:  Agreed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if something is cost-based, then presumably the cost themselves are subject to a prudence review, as you have talked about with Mr. De VELLIS and Mr. Thompson earlier today; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you spoke to Mr. De VELLIS this morning about the $3 million that EI spends on board of directors' support, of which 665,000 is allocated to EGD.  That was Mr. Mees, I think.


MR. PLAYER:  I recall that number 665, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that Deloitte did not review the prudence of the $3 million number, only the $665,000 number?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you agree that the EI budget that includes that $3 million is not before this Board, so the Board's not in a position to review the prudence of the costs that you started with; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just to make sure that I'm clear on this, can you turn to page 16 of the Deloitte report itself, which is ‑‑ I'm not sure I remember what exhibit it is.


MR. PLAYER:  Is that Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.  You will see at ‑‑ do you have that?


MS. NOWINA:  We do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You will see at pages 16 and 17, there is a list of fully-loaded service costs that total 59 million.  Now, that's ‑‑ is that the total budget of EI?


MR. BROWN:  No.  That's the total of the services.  It excludes the -- I believe, the general expenses.  This is just the services provided for 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it also includes all of the support costs and everything, all of the loadings that go into that?


MR. BROWN:  That is true.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But there are direct costs, as well, for example, insurance and things like that?


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those aren't in that total?


MR. BROWN:  Subject to check, I don't think they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have not filed any segmented or non‑consolidated, or both, financial statements of EI in this proceeding, have you?


MR. PLAYER:  I don't believe so.  Not to my knowledge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what I wonder if you could do is to file ‑‑ to undertake to provide segmented non‑consolidated financial statements of EI isolating the portion of both revenues and expenses that relate to EGD.  Can you do that?


MR. PLAYER:  I'm not sure we want to get into this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well...

     MR. PLAYER:  Filing Enbridge Inc. data in this case?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're charging EGD for the ‑‑ for costs of Enbridge Inc.; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  Just a moment, please.


[Witness panel confers]  

     MR. PLAYER:  We have filed the Enbridge Inc. segmented data. What we haven't done, are the adjustments that Mr. Shepherd is asking for.  And, I mean, if we start to get into this, it becomes, kind of, a never-ending process, with costs and the affiliate relations.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just let me -- before I make submissions on this, Madam Chair.  

     You filed the segmented consolidated; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't filed non-consolidated information, have you?  For EI? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I don't believe so, no.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, the basis for this request is -- I'm just trying to turn up, on my computer, the 0133 decision.  And there, the Board was looking at some cost-based charges.  And at paragraph 534, relating to ECSI, the Board said, that because ECSI was charging amounts to EGD on a cost basis, that it had to file financial information.  And this is what the Board said, and I quote:

“The Board, therefore, directs that the segmented financial statements for 2003 and 2004, that isolate the EGDI portion of ECSI's business, including the return on invested capital, together with a description of the services being provided to EGDI, be filed in EGDI's next main rates filing.”  

     And, in fact, those have been filed -- were filed last year.  They have been filed again this year.  And the whole point of that was, if the basis is cost, the Board needs to see what the costs are, that are being allocated, not just the portion that's going to EGDI, but what's the total? 

     And so, therefore, I would request an undertaking to provide similar data for EI on a non-consolidated basis.  

     MR. MEES:  Mr. Shepherd, just to clarify, for what year? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The most recent year you have would be good. 

     MR. MEES:  And you're looking for actual financial results? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  If you have pro forma’s for 2005, that would be great, too.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  Just to be clear, you're talking about EI unconsolidated, segmented. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Non-consolidated, segmented, isolating the EGDI component.  

     MR. BROWN:  I -- 

     MR. BOYLE:  I, perhaps, can answer one part of that.  There are no such things as segmented unconsolidated statements for EI. 

     There are unconsolidated statements that either could be created, or might exist, but they would not ever be segmented.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's true - isn't it, Mr. Boyle? - that you must have non-consolidated statements to do your consolidated statements.  So you know you have

non-consolidated statements; right?

     MR. BOYLE:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, normally, what happens is the next step, in a statement, is to segment.  And I'm asking you to do that:  segment it.  

     MR. BOYLE:  Well, that may be, technically, feasible, but it hasn't been done, and would take some time to do.  But the unconsolidated, technically, do exist.  Yes, that would be correct.  

     MR. BROWN:  I could be wrong, but I don't think that the accounting rules require segmented information for non-consolidated financial statements.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, they do not.  I'm asking the Board to require it.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Persad, any questions? 

     MR. BROWN:  I'm just confused as to what it is that that would show -- that you are wanting to look at.  I mean, if you're looking for the Enbridge Inc. budget, in total, and how those costs were recovered from affiliates, and the residual that is left in Enbridge Inc., we do have schedules.  I know that -- in prior rate cases, that we had provided that, but did not disclose the amounts for each of the other affiliates.  They were, I believe, reported in aggregate.  Is that -- is that satisfactory? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think what happened with ECSI - which is, really, what -- sort of, the same thing I'm looking for, but in a little more detail, because you have line items, right? - is that it has the EGD column and then it has everything else.  Now, in this case, probably, the logical way to do it would be the EGD column, all other affiliates, and corporate.  

     But -- I don't think that’s a major stretch.  

     MR. BROWN:  And again, this is for the allocable corporate office departmental budget? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, for all expenses.  Your entire financial statement, not just the component that you're treating as allocable.  Because the Board has to look at your costs in order to figure out whether the basis for these charges are correct.  So your costs are your financial statements.  

     MR. MEES:  I guess the difficulty I'm having, Mr. Shepherd, is that this is based on the 2005 budget.   And you’re -- I believe you asked for 2005 actuals -- or 2004 actuals.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  In the same way as, for ECSI, the Board ordered actuals plus pro forma’s. 

     MR. MEES:  And to my understanding, this has not been publicly available before.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's correct.  And in the same way as ECSI was filed, on a confidential basis, presumably, you would want these to be filed on a confidential basis, too, which is fine with me.  It's up to the Board to decide that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Is Enbridge willing to produce the schedules as requested? 

     MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chair, if I could just make a brief comment.  Subject to clarification for -- of, exactly, what Mr. Shepherd is asking for, I just point out that financial statements would show much more than just costs.  They would show revenue items.  They would show assets.  And I'm just not sure what the relevance of those other items would be, to this issue.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  They would show, also, net return on profit, which is precisely why the ECSI statements were filed.  

     MR. BROWN:  They would show Enbridge Inc. non-consolidated bottom line, that’s correct.  But, again, I do not believe those financial statements can be segmented.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  My sense is that that financial statement would give you information that would go far beyond the scope of the discussion of this panel matter.  And I suspect there is more to the question than -- certainly, there could be an easier way to get what you're after.  

     We're talking about allocators, here, and I think there are some naturally-occurring forces that would have the Enbridge Inc. board apply a prudence review, including its own board, in establishing overall Enbridge costs.  So I would think we’d be more concerned with the allocation of those costs, and then assume that they are incurred on a prudent basis, as a starting point.  

     I think Enbridge has demonstrated that -- time and time again, that it's a good financial manager.  So I'm wondering where this analysis would begin and end.            

 
MR. PLAYER:  Madam Chair, can we have an opportunity to confer with counsel?


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  What we would ask is that we defer the decision on this until tomorrow.  When this panel has completed, they can then confer with counsel and hopefully confer with Mr. Shepherd to see if there's some schedules that you can both agree on that can be filed.


If you can't agree, then certainly, Mr. Shepherd, feel free to bring the matter up again tomorrow, but this panel, after, will then be released and will have had an opportunity to have talked to their counsel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if it turns out that something is filed, I presume that counsel would have the right to cross-examine on that, if it is necessary, with this witness panel again?


MS. NOWINA:  If necessary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I appreciate that.


MR. PLAYER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to move to another area now.  Sorry, my first five minutes took me 20.  I apologize.  I will talk faster.


The -- Mr. Mees, Mr. De VELLIS asked you some questions this morning about the approval of the service schedules.


MR. MEES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you recall that?  And as I understood your evidence, you said that when the service schedules were initially approved, when you decided what you were going to buy, there were no dollar figures in those schedules; right?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  The first part of the process occurred in the October/November time frame when we were finalizing the service schedules.  At that point, we hadn't assigned costs to those services.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I don't understand how ‑‑ and maybe you do it differently in the utility business, but I don't understand how you can approve the purchase of something if you don't know how much you are going to have to pay for it.  Isn't the prudent way normally to decide whether you're going to buy something on the basis of how much it is going to cost relative to the benefit?


MR. MEES:  That is true, but that wasn't the first -- or it wasn't the last approval process.  I mean, this was just an initial ‑‑ this is -- we agreed with the activities as they stand and the services as they stand, and there was still a chance to change or reject the services at the later date.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there were some services that, after you knew how much they cost, you rejected them?


MR. MEES:  Yes.  I believe that is the case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what were they, the ones that you rejected after you knew the costs, not before you knew the costs?


MR. BROWN:  I believe business development.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But Ontario business development --


MR. BROWN:  No, the certain ‑‑ I believe the planning and development department of Enbridge Inc.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but I understood that when that schedule was first presented to EGD, the planning development group said, We don't need this.  Isn't that right?  Before they knew what the cost is, they said, We don't need it; isn't that true?


MR. MEES:  For the planning and ‑‑ for that department, in particular, yes, that was ‑‑ I rejected that prior to the costs, but there was a couple of other costs that we rejected after that within business development.  I just don't recall which departments they were.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only example you have given us turns out not to be the case, but you don't have any other examples that you can give us?


MR. MEES:  It was a long process and I'm not sure I can remember the specifics of when I rejected and which departments it was.


MR. PLAYER:  If I can just add to Mr. Mees' comments on this, as he said, this is an iterative process.  We hadn't finalized anything.  Nothing was finalized until all of the costs were in there, and then we signed off and it was to bed.  I mean, you have all kinds of drafts and iterations before you ever get to a finalization.  You certainly don't have it on round 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's great, Mr. Player.  Thank you for that.  So -- well, since you're warmed up, you're the one who is responsible for the inter-corporate services agreement, itself; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you in fact signed that?


MR. PLAYER:  I beg your pardon?


MR. SHEPHERD:  You in fact signed that agreement?


MR. PLAYER:  I believe I did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other person who signed it was Mr. Schultz?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it was.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Ms. DuPont, you're the person on EI's side responsible for that agreement; right?


MS. DuPONT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And aside from you, who is the other person who signed the agreement on behalf of EI?


MR. BROWN:  That would be Mr. Mel Belich.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mel?


MS. DuPONT:  Belich.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Belich.


MS. DuPONT:  Counsel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  But Mr. Letwin is the EI executive responsible for EGD; right?


MR. PLAYER:  He is, and he also has responsibility for a number of areas in the company, as well as EGD, but ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think we heard the other day, Mr. Player, that you report to Mr. Schultz, who reports to Mr. Letwin?


MR. PLAYER:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that Mr. Letwin approved the terms of this agreement as well?


MS. DuPONT:  I think that would be an assumption, all right.  I'm not sure that he did read the agreement.  Jim Schultz was acting on behalf of the utility.


MR. PLAYER:  In fact, I rather doubt that Mr. Letwin did read the agreement, knowing Mr. Letwin.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm saying nothing.  Can you turn to page 3 of the agreement?  This is ‑ let me just see what the reference is - Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, and it's page 3 of that appendix.  Do you have that?


MR. MEES:  Yes, we have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, first let me just clear something up, and you may have already cleared it up.  I couldn't find the reference.  This says that the old agreement ends December 31st, 2004 and the new agreement starts January 1st, 2006.  That 2004 should be 2005; is that right?


MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's just a typo?


MR. MEES:  Yes, and I think that was updated in an interrogatory response to one of your interrogatories.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't find it.  That's why I wanted to get it on the record.  So I want to start with the legal effect of this agreement.  To do that, I want to move to section 6, which is on page 5 of that appendix.


This talks about the procedures under which you pay the amount set out in the schedules.  Do you see that?


MR. BROWN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you do a monthly invoice, and then you do a quarterly payment; right?


MR. BROWN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I was all confused about this, because I found somewhere else ‑ I don't remember quite where ‑ that the actual amount you pay is under the CAM methodology, not the RCAM methodology.  That's the amount that EGD is required to pay to EI in the test year; right?


MR. MEES:  The way the agreements have been set out, we are, as it says -- it indicates there, we will be paying the RCAM amount.  We will then be paying the difference between the RCAM amount and CAM, and there is another agreement that sets that out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the amount in the financial statements is going to be ‑‑ in the EGD financial statements is going to be the CAM amount, not the RCAM amount?


MR. MEES:  That's correct.  The RCAM has been designed for regulatory purposes only.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this morning Mr. Player, I think it was, you told Mr. Thompson that the amount you were going to pay to EI is going to be 21.3 million regardless of the Board's decision in this case.  Now, that wasn't quite correct, was it, because it is actually going to be something like $25 million that you're going to pay; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's absolutely correct.  I spoke in error.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so all of these payment procedures, those payment procedures are sort of ‑‑ I mean, I hesitate to call them window dressing, but this isn't really what you're paying.  I mean, you are paying this amount, but then you're paying some extra and that's the real amount you're paying; right?


MR. MEES:  We're paying the difference.  So CAM might be lower than RCAM, but we will pay -- in the end result, it will be CAM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, did you tell us what the CAM amount is for your services in the corporate services in 2006?  Did I miss that?


MR. MEES:  No, I don't think ‑‑


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MEES:  The CAM amount has not been finalized for 2006.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you know what it is for 2005, that's $24.2 million, but 2006 -- it's going to be some, like, 2 or 3 percent higher; is that fair? 

     MR. MEES:  Or lower.  Yes.  I mean, we're right now the Enbridge Inc. budget process has begun.  And through that will be the -- we’ll find out what the amount for CAM will be.  And then we will review and approve that amount.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, is there somewhere in the evidence, a grid that tracks CAM to RCAM, so we can see how they relate to each other? 

     MR. MEES:  No, I don't think there is.  As we've indicated already, CAM is a departmental-based approach and RCAM is a service-based approach.  We haven't been comparing the two, because they really aren't comparable.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now you did, in School Energy No. 19, which is Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19 - you don't have to turn this up, because I’ll give you an easier reference - you did provide a recasting of RCAM on the same basis as CAM; right?  It was on a department-by-department basis.  

     If you want to look at the numbers that we're talking about, if you take a look at VECC's exhibit this morning, K9.3, there’s a column 6.  And that 6 is taken directly from page 9 of Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19.  

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, what was your question?  Because I don't believe that this -- what you're seeing on Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19, is not CAM.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's allocating the same data, on the basis that CAM is allocated; right?  By EI department.  

     MR. MEES:  But, as I had indicated earlier, the amounts that have been included in the VECC schedule, and in School's schedule 19, page 4 through to 9, are fully-loaded.  So they include other costs, and CAM was not a fully-loaded amount.  So they are not comparable.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that's why you have -- if you take a look at column 4 of the VECC exhibit, you see all the amounts allocated to the various departments, and then you see they total 7 million.  Then you have another 7 million of loading; right? 

     MR. BROWN:  I see that, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that loading is what you're talking about, as not allocated to the various departments. 

     MR. BROWN:  Correct.  

     MR. MEES:  Exactly.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It looks to me like the allocation is about 100 percent.  You doubled them, basically, to get your support -- to get your loaded amount; right?  7 million direct; 7 million support.  

     MR. MEES:  Assuming that the VECC's schedule is correct in column 4, yes, it is 7 million, total -- sub total, that is.  But I haven't done the math to make sure it is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in the end, the source data for both of these is the same; right?  Whether you’re using CAM or RCAM, they're just two different ways of slicing up the pie; right?  It’s the same pie.  

     MR. BROWN:  Same amounts, just different methodology to price the services.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, at least in theory -- and I know you haven't done this, but, at least in theory, we should be able to calculate what EGD is paying under CAM for each of the functions that are set out in RCAM; right, in theory? 

     MR. MEES:  I don't think, in theory.  Because RCAM uses time estimates.  CAM does not.  I mean, it used a number of allocators, but there is a lot more rigour to RCAM than there is CAM.  So I don't think the theory works.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, all right.  I mean, I understand that the reconciliation may not be easy.  But, I guess -- it looks to me like both methodologies are charging for the same things, using the same raw data, just different ways.  So, I don't understand how you would be unable -- it might be hard, but I don't understand how you’d be unable to reconcile the two. 

     MR. MEES:  Well, one example, would -- they aren't paying for the same things.  We have services, and there's been some services we have rejected, because they didn't meet the three-prong test.  The same can't be said for CAM.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- okay.  So the services you're getting under RCAM are different from the services you're getting under CAM? 

     MR. MEES:  Yes.  We had indicated we had made some changes.  We had rejected some services. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now there are some services that you're getting under RCAM that you're not paying for under CAM, right; is that true? 

     MR. BROWN:  I don't think we can compare CAM, because it is not service-based.  We don't have that delineation of the services, within the departments, costed out.  I mean, in total, I would agree that the amounts would be the same, but you cannot compare them on a department-by-department basis, or service-by-service basis.  

     We could not answer this particular School's interrogatory the way it was asked, because it asked for CAM for ‘04, ‘05, ‘06.  So what we did, in an effort to, at least, meet partially the request, was, we used all the assumptions that we’d used in RCAM for '06.  We used them against the ‘05 actuals -- pardon me, the ‘05 budget, the ‘04 actuals, to give a response, rather than no response at all.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I'm trying to step back from the methodology for a second.  This is all very complicated, already, and I have no desire to make it more complicated, trust me.  

     However, this is actually about real people doing real things, right?  Forget the methodology.  And, no matter which methodology you're using, it’s still the same real people, doing the same real things. 

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it should, at least in theory, be possible to figure out what you're paying for those real people doing those real things, under one method and the other method; right? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  What we're saying is that the RCAM method is a better, more accurate capturing of those costs.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting you say that, Mr. Gruending, because you work for EI; right? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the better method is not the one you're actually billing EGD on, is it? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  I would say, from my personal participation in the time study, and my observation of those around me also participating in it, that the RCAM model was far more rigorous, and, I would submit, captures the cost incurrence of that service much more accurately.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me ask you to look at VECC K9.3.   You had a discussion with Mr. De VELLIS about this, this morning.  I'm not going to beat it to death, but I do want to just understand something.  

     I will use the same example as he did, the CEO's office, right?  So, under the 2005 claim, the bill for the CEO's office is $402,200.  I presume that’s not going to go up a lot under CAM, right?  For 2006? 

     MR. MEES:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, what was the question? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That $402,200 in -- sorry -- yes, $402,200, under line 2, for 2005, for the CEO:  In 2006, it's not going to be a lot more than that, is it, under CAM?  

     MR. MEES:  I guess you could -- if we were to do CAM for 2006, the CEO office might not be too much different.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  And so you're going to get a bill for $402,200 for the CEO's office in 2006.  But, if I understand you correctly, you're actually going to pay, for that office, 866,000 and change; isn't that right?  Or, no -- sorry, that's wrong.  You're actually going to pay $402,200, but you're going to charge the ratepayers $866,000; right? 

     MR. MEES:  But, as I've already indicated, Mr. Shepherd, the numbers in column 6 are fully-loaded.  So that $866,000 is a fully-loaded cost.


The number in 2005 is not a fully-loaded cost, so they really can't be compared.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm trying to understand is ‑‑


MR. MEES:  Because, I mean, you're looking at -- if you look at it just in one line, you really can't do that in this case, because this is by department and RCAM is a service-based approach.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you buy -- if EGD buys something from a third party, whether it is an affiliate or not, you can't charge in rates more than you're actually going to pay for that, can you?


MR. BROWN:  That's correct.  If I could, look to line 26 on K9.3.  For 2005, the support costs are $7 million.  In column 6, I believe it is, it's $3 million.  The $4 million difference would be several support costs, whether they be benefits, rents, leases, all kinds of things, that have been removed under RCAM because the costs for the services that the CEO provide have been fully loaded.  


All the costs associated with all of the people providing all of the services are fully loaded, including stock-based compensation, all of those things; whereas in column 4, many of those things are just captured in line 26.  So, again, it is apples and oranges.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that and I'm not challenging that, but I guess I notice that you compare the 7 million in column 4 to column 6 rather than the 1 million that Deloitte's said was the right support loading that's in column 5.  Why is that?


MR. BROWN:  The Deloitte approved ‑‑ or the amount that Deloitte recommended, the 13.5, was again, as Mike has said many times, based on insufficient information.  There are many examples within their report where they divided the second capital employed ratio by two.  They did not have time estimates.  There was no time study.  


They did the best they could to come up with a number, and it is not comparable to anything CAM nor RCAM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's just leave aside the non‑comparability of the numbers.  I understand that problem, and let's just ask a more simple question.


If EI bills EGD $1 million for something, it's not appropriate for you to collect a 1-1/2 million for that in rates, is it?


MR. MEES:  I think you have to look at the circumstances.  I'm not sure you can make that proposition.  I mean, when we put forward a budget, we forecast to the best of our ability what should be included in rates, and we get recovery on that.  There may be some instances where the costs, as any of our costs change, they either increase or decrease.  So you can't just say that -- without understanding the underlying facts, what happened.  You can't just use that, as far as I'm concerned.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Mees, this is actually a much simpler point than that.


MR. MEES:  Maybe I am making it more complicated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about the difference between now and actual.  I'm talking about your budget.  If your budget -- if the amount you know you're going to be charged is 1 million today, and then you can't come into this Board with a budget saying, But we want 1-1/2 million from the ratepayers, can you?


MR. PLAYER:  No.  That's absolutely correct, but there is -- I think we need to look at two lines.  If you're saying, Well, here is a line, the CEO line, and because of the change in methodology, it's gone down, okay, but then we also have to pick up that other line that says, And here are the loads that would go into same CEO office and it happened to go up.  


So, no, you charge exactly what was charged ‑‑ was budgeted for the CEO, but you also charge what was actually budgeted for that load line, too.  So together you're really charging the ratepayer the same amount that you're being charged in the corporate allocation.


MR. MEES:  Sorry, just to add to that, in this case, we're asking for recovery of $21.3 million.  The number for CAM, which we will be paying, may or may not be different than that.  It might be higher or lower.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's go back to the agreement.  I actually started on the agreement here, and then I got running down this other thing.


So let's go back to A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, and let's go back to page 3.  I'm sorry, we're not actually going backwards, but -- just for a second.


Do you have that?  Yes?  So if you look at section 2, this says this agreement is subject to any rule of the OEB, and we originally thought that was a typo for the word "ruling", but it isn't, is it?  


You talked with Mr. Thompson this morning and you have answered an interrogatory that says that whatever this Board says, if the Board says a lower amount is the appropriate amount for RCAM, it doesn't matter.  This agreement still stands at the 21.3; right?


MR. MEES:  We've answered this in School Energy number 16, part B, but, essentially, if the Board orders us to pay a number less than the 21.3, we will pay, per this RCAM agreement, that amount.


But we also, as I've indicated earlier, have another agreement that says we will pay the difference between whatever the RCAM amount is, that's approved by the Board, and CAM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I'm even more confused.  I thought you told Mr. Thompson this morning, or earlier today, that regardless of what the Board says, under this agreement you're paying 21.3.  Is that not correct?  Does this clause say that if the Board says it should be 15, then that's the number under this agreement?


MR. MEES:  If I could take you to School Energy number 16, part B, if you look at the response there, what our interpretation of section 2 of the agreement is is that if there's any changes that are made pursuant to the Board, through the Affiliate Relationships Code, primarily, then we will reflect this in the agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it doesn't deal with any order in this case; right?  That's what you've said?


MR. MEES:  That's what I've said.  That's what's indicated in that response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then my question was, and it's a simple yes or no answer:  If the Board decides that the correct number to be charged to ratepayers is 15 instead of 21.3, then this agreement still says 21.3; right?  It's unchanged?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  I think, as we repeatedly said, we will pay what our contracts say and we will recover in rates what the Board says.  And as another example, if we find during the year that we're recovering X dollars in capital and we have another issue that we have to deal with, we will spend more capital and it will come out of the shareholder's pocket.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm right, am I not, that in the event, the example I've given you, you're going to pay 15 million from the ratepayers, you're going to pay another 6.3 million under this agreement, and then you're going to pay another X million, whatever it is, under the CAM agreement; right?


MR. MEES:  That's correct, Mr. Shepherd.  I think I misspoke earlier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you filed the CAM agreement?


MR. MEES:  I don't believe we have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you could undertake to file that?


MR. MEES:  Certainly.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J9.1, and that's the filing of the CAM agreement.


UNDERTAKING NO. J9.1:  FILING OF CAM AGREEMENT
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could move forward to page 5, then, of this agreement.  I just have a couple more questions on this agreement.  In section 6 of this agreement - do you see that - in D, that's a price adjustment clause; right? 

     MR. BOYLE:  Mr. Shepherd, are you referring to “Payment Procedures, no. 6?” 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, 6(d).  It starts: 

“In the event that the Minister of Natural Revenue ...”

     Blah, blah, blah -- “blah, blah, blah” being technical jargon for tax uses.  

     Do you know what this clause is for? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Sorry.  It seems to be -- yes, an adjustment clause with respect to tax.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with how price-adjustment clauses work? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Well, I guess, if there's a change in the cost to the service providers, then that cost is passed on, with respect to the items that are identified in the adjustment clause. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's what you believe a price-adjustment clause is? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's what I believe it is.  And I'm not a lawyer, so -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's -- actually, accountants know more about it, generally.  Does anybody else know what price-adjustment clauses are?  No? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Enlighten us.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I’m -- unfortunately - or fortunately, I suppose, for the Board - I can't give evidence.  

     All right.  I’ll move along.  You’ll note that it saved a page of questions.  Scintillating questions, but questions nonetheless.  

     I wonder if you could turn to page 6, and look at section 10 of this proceeding -- of this agreement.  Do you see that?  Confidential information? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we've got that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you answered an interrogatory that said that, although this obligation says that EI will not disclose confidential information, it actually means, by implication, it won't use it, either; is that right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Excuse me, what do you mean by “won't use it?”  It would certainly use it in its own requirements, but what do you mean by “use it?”  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

     MR. PLAYER:  Internally? Or -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD: -- confidentiality provisions, normally, have two components.  One is that you won't tell anybody else.  That's the disclosure part.

     MR. PLAYER:  Right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And second is, you won't use it for any purposes other than the reason you're being given the information in the first place.  Do you agree with that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Fine. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I'm asking the question -- this only has a prohibition against disclosure.  And I believe -- I’ll find you the reference.  You said in Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 16, at page 3 -- you said:

          “EGD is of the view that this restriction ...”

That's referring to that restriction - 

“... implies that EI shall not use EGD confidential information for any purpose other than in connection with the provision of the services.”  

     This is in paragraph E, page 3 of that interrogatory response.  Do you see that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I see it.  Just give me a moment to read it.  I see that, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's not what the agreement says, is it?  That's simply your interpretation of it.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  It’s -- I guess it’s an interpretation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it’s correct, isn't it, that if, for example, EI has information on one of IGUA's members, as to their usage or their business, or whatever, which they would -- they get lots of that information in providing these services, don't they? 

     MR. PLAYER:  There may be some aspects where there would be a sharing of information, yes.  When we're looking at risk, as an example. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And things like -- when you're talking to investors, you have to know, generally, whose going to be building, and how much -- what their new -- where their new plant is going to be, that sort of thing.  You won't tell the investors the names, but you need to know it, don't you?  You need to know what’s happening in the franchise area, the big stuff.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  Yes, in big picture terms.  But I wouldn't say IGUA member-specific, or anything like that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But, if I understand your interpretation correctly, although you might have such information, EI isn't allowed to use it, for example, to have its other subsidiaries compete with your customers here.  You can't do that, can you? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That is correct.  We don't share that information. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the agreement doesn't say that, but you can't, in fact, do that, can you? 

     MR. PLAYER:  We do not do that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask one more question about the agreement, then.  

     And if you can keep your hand at I16 -- I18, 16 - because I'm going to come back to it - and look at clause 12 of the agreement.  This is the force majeure clause.  Do you know what a force majeure is? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I do, but don't ask me to interpret it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true that a force majeure clause excuses a party from performing its obligations, if a major event, like a fire, or a labour disruption, or something like that, prevents it from doing so; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, if the employees of EI's bank go on strike, and, as a result, the cash-management system is unavailable, Ms. DuPont, you don't have to provide the cash-management services to EGD; right?  Because your bank’s on strike; true? 

     MR. BOYLE:  Well, perhaps, I could -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --  

     MR. BOYLE:  -- answer that.  It would depend on whether that would qualify as a force majeure event, it would depend on the bank and things like that.  But, essentially, you're correct.  If there is something of such a magnitude, that would be defined as force majeure, that would prevent us from running services, including all reasonable efforts, then we would not be required to meet that services obligation during that period. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But this clause only says you don't have to provide service.  EGD still has to pay for it, don't they?  In fact, if you take a look at I18, 16, page 3, in paragraph G, you say just that.  

     MR. MEES:  Yes, that's how I interpret it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I was going to ask some questions about business development but I understand, Mr. Player, that, although you're the one -- the service recipient, we're going to ask Mr. Luison about those tomorrow? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I would appreciate that.        

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, then, let's move to capital-market financing and investor services.  And this is one you talked about with Mr. DeVellis this morning; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  It's been a long day.  Your memory is better than mine.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I live for this stuff.  

     So those two items, capital-market financing and access and investor services -- which, we agree, are sort of related -- they're not the same thing, but they're related; right, Mr. Gruending? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  They're close, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they total about $2.8 million? 

     MR. GRUENDING:  Yes.     

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you -- so Mr. DeVellis asked you why this extra payment was made, and I didn't quite understand your answer.  I guess, from my point of view, if I go to the bank to borrow money, I expect to pay interest, but I don't expect to pay some of the salary of the loans officer that’s lending me the money.  So I guess I don't understand why, in addition to the rate of return, you would be collecting $2.8 million for being the shareholder.  I don't get that.  Maybe you could try again -- or maybe I just didn't understand it correctly.  

     MR. BOYLE:  Perhaps I can respond to part of that, Mr. Shepherd.  The first part is with respect to capital-market financing and access.  And as I mentioned, that is the activities associated with the issuance of term-debt, capital, preferred shares or common-equity capital.  So that's coming to market, dealing with the investment banks associated with those transactions, dealing with investors that are looking to purchase the debt, and things of that nature.  Making the securities filings associated with the issuances, et cetera.  So that is raising of capital and -- the most active one for Enbridge Gas Distribution is the term debt capital, and so that is what that service relates to.  And part of that is obviously dealing with investors that are looking to purchase the debt or preferred shares or equity, as the case may be.


With respect to the investor services, that's more with the maintenance of the investor questions or issues that may arise as they hold their investment or continue to hold it, and continue to be interested and knowledgeable about the company, and things of that nature.  These are services that would be required for any entity that is in the business of raising public capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Will you accept, subject to check, that if you treated this extra payment as sort of part of your return, it would add 25 basis points to your return on equity from EGD, roughly?


MR. GRUENDING:  This isn't a return on investment.  It's an operating cost to perform a service that the utility would have to perform on its own, but it doesn't.  It buys it from us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Accept my hypothetical for a second, even though I know you disagree with it.  If it was treated as return, it is about 25 basis points; right, in that range?


MR. MEES:  How did you calculate that, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2.8 million on about a million-two of equity.


MR. MEES:  Wouldn't it be on an after-tax basis?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.


MR. MEES:  Wouldn't you want to ‑‑ I'm not even going to go -- because I don't agree with your premise, but that's pre-tax.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would have to reduce it by 35 percent, so it would be 18 basis points?  Am I in the range, 17, 18 basis points?


MR. MEES:  Again, we don't agree with your premise, but if that is your calculation, it's fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me turn to the last specific area I want to talk about before I get into some more general stuff, I think.  This is Necho support.  You know what Necho is, yes?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we know what Necho is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if you can turn to page 70 of the same appendix.  I'm out of the agreement now.  I'm looking at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 7.


Do you see that?


MR. MEES:  We have that, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the service schedule actually says that Mr. DeWolf is responsible for this, but on this panel, you're looking after it, Mr. Player?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  Mr. DeWolf reports to me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you're paying almost 180,000 for Necho support; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct, 179.22.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is an expense reporting system, a web-based expense reporting?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that doesn't include the licence fee, and it doesn't include the hardware or management of the hardware, none of that; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's right.  It is technical support and administration of that system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it happens, Mr. Player, that in another life I'm very familiar with Necho and that product, and it's true, isn't it, that one key advantage of Necho Navigator is that it's very easy to use?  I once heard a Necho executive refer to it as idiot mittens expense reporting; anybody can do it.  It's true that's the main advantage?


MR. PLAYER:  It works reasonably well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it came as a shock to me to see that it would cost 180,000 to support that, a very simple web-based product.  So I went to the Necho web site, and I'm going to quote you something that they have on their web site from a magazine:

"Necho Systems Corp.'s Navigator-hosted systems, for example, reside on the software developer's servers and networks.  Customers pay a per-user per-month fee that is about $10.00 a month.  About half of its 100 customers go with the hosting model.  The remainder licence the software, which is installed and maintained in house at about $100.00 per user."


So what is the total cost to EGD of Necho?


MR. PLAYER:  $179,422.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, plus the licence fee, plus the cost of the servers and managing the servers, all of that stuff, that's all extra; right?


MR. PLAYER:  We haven't allocated that out separately against it, but it is part of the total service, EFS service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your number of Necho users is 1,681?


MR. PLAYER:  Is that correct?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I found that on page 28 of appendix 6 of the Deloitte report, if you want to turn it up.


MR. PLAYER:  Okay.


MR. GRUENDING:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  1,681 users.  So I did the math and I said, Well, then why would it cost you any more than 168,000 all in for this software, including the licence, including the hardware, everything?  You're paying 179 for the admin side.  I don't get that.


MR. PLAYER:  Well ‑‑


MS. DuPONT:  I think you -- if I may, Madam Chairman, I think you're understating the complexity of the Necho system.  And, with respect, I would ‑‑ with respect, I would suggest you were looking at one of their advertisements.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In an independent article, in CMA Magazine.


MS. DuPONT:  Fine.  There is a significant amount of activity around Necho, including full-time resources that are attached to it that are involved in the training of users, that are involved in the monitoring of the systems and are involved in the reporting and analysis of the materials that come out of the system.


So I think it is a little bit inaccurate - quite inaccurate, in fact - to say that it's the amount that you've quoted per user.  It is a fairly complex system.


The other thing I would take issue with is the simplicity with which it's described.  I think anybody who has managed the transition from a paper‑based system to an electronic system, and then managed the ongoing integration of people into that system would say that it's a fairly complex system and requires significant staff resources.  So ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  How many people do you have at EI working full time on Necho?


MS. DuPONT:  We have an individual who is a full-time administrator, and we have another individual who is a part-time support to that individual, that person.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So one-and-a-half?


MS. DuPONT:  I would say probably two, all in.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Two, all in?


MS. DuPONT:  Two individuals who work ‑‑ now, I am talking about the support to the users.  I'm not talking about the technical support.  I'm talking about the people who are the contact point for staff across the system when people run into difficulties with it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have other people writing software ‑‑


MS. DuPONT:  No.  We have -- if you look at the exhibit that you've referenced, we have people who are involved in tracking expenses and supply purchases.  And keep in mind that this is not only employee expenses, but this is also the use of the P-Card.  This is also the use of the BMO P-Card, so it is used also as a purchasing system.


MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chairman, if I could just step in for a moment, I just have a brief comment.  Before this goes any further, the witnesses haven't seen what Mr. Shepherd is referring to.  We don't have any opportunity to test the source of it.  So if Mr. Shepherd wants to refer to it any further or refer to it in argument, I would suggest that he file it and give us some notice to respond to it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I will be happy to do so, but I'm not going to refer to it again.  I will be happy to file it.


I'm just ‑‑ I'm trying to understand what you're saying, Ms. DuPont, because you said you have people tracking the expenses, and stuff like that, but that is not Necho support, is it?  That's financial stuff.  That's separately billed, isn't it?


MS. DuPONT:  Well, it is considered, as part of the Necho service, to track expenses and supply purchases that are available through this system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Necho does it?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have people doing it?


MS. DuPONT:  Well, I mean, there is no point in Necho doing it unless it rolls up for someone to review and to monitor.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that person who reviews and monitors it at EI is not billed through this 179,000, are they?

     MS. DuPONT:  I believe a portion of -- yes.  A portion of their time is billed through this, and that's the corporate administration department, if you look on page 71 of the exhibit that you’ve referenced.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Show me where it says that.       

     MS. DuPONT:  Show you where it says -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Where it says that the actual review of the expenses, themselves - the financial side of it - is being billed in this 179,000. 

     MS. DuPONT:  Well, I think it’s probably not, specifically, stated, in the way in which you are stating it.  But if you look at the third bullet under “User-Support Activities”, manage enterprise, employee business- and travel-expense policy and purchasing-card agreements.  And so those agreements are managed by that individual, or by that department, but part of what goes into the management of that is a regular monthly reporting of the activities within those two entities, and decisions on whether or not they are still appropriate entities, and whether there needs to be an expansion of the service.  

     So it’s not explicit in that listing, but that’s where that is captured.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that the total cost of Necho support for EI is $441,138, fully-loaded? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes.  By the Deloitte document, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have two people working on it?        

     MS. DuPONT:  Well, we have two people working in the corporate administration department who -- one of whom is 100-percent devoted to Necho, and one of whom is partially devoted to Necho.  But if you look back at the first page of that document - Exhibit 6A, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 70 - you see that there is a connection between Necho and EFS, certainly -- the Enbridge Financial System.  And there is also support offered to Necho from the CIO department.  So there are a number of people, in different groups within the corporate office, that are involved in supporting Necho.  Which would come as a great surprise, I'm sure, to the people who published the piece that you quoted from.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there anywhere in the evidence -- you said there’s 129 people at EI; is that right?  Is that your -- 

     MR. ROSS:  I mentioned 129 people prepared the time estimate study at Enbridge Inc. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the headcount at EI?

     MR. ROSS:  For the 2005 budget, which was used as a starting point -- or basis for 2006, there were 180 headcount budgeted. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  180? 

     MR. BROWN:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.   And do we have a breakdown anywhere of the headcount relative to the various amounts that are billed to EGD?  How many people are doing this? 

     MR. BROWN:  Well 129 people did the time survey, and would -- contained within the model that Deloitte developed, it would be possible to delineate the percentages, as we've talked about previously, direct to EGD -- the three different time categories for each of those individuals who did that time study, by service.  

     If it would help, I could provide some numbers on this particular service that you're questioning, with respect to time studies.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So those 129 people cost $21.3 million to EGD?  

     MR. BROWN:  Fully-loaded, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, of course, for some of them, all EGD gets is bits and pieces of their time; right? 

     MR. BROWN:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I get $165,000 a person, even if they were all working full-time on EGD.  That seems like a lot.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  That assumes, Mr. Shepherd, that the allocation is based 100 percent on salaried and benefit costs.  Of course, you must know that there's outside costs.  There’s travel costs.  There’s -- fully-burdened.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but even fully-loaded, 165 per person, full time, for all your staff, seems like a lot.  I mean, some of these staff don't make -- they make like $25,000; right?  In Calgary? 

     MR. BROWN:  Our VP of HR will be on the stand tomorrow, and he can tell you all about how Enbridge pays at the median and market.  They are competitive.  I'm not sure where you got your number from, but he would be able to speak to that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I want to turn to FTEs and hourly rates.  And I provided you yesterday with - if I can find my copy - an exhibit which I have provided to Board Staff and to the company.  I have copies, here, for other people.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  This exhibit will be given number K9.5, and it will be characterized as “Corporate-Cost Allocations, 2006 - Hourly Rates.”  

EXHIBIT NO. K9.5:  CORPORATE-COST ALLOCATIONS, 2006 - HOURLY RATES  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  I’m sorry, Mr. Shepherd, if I may very quickly -- I’m sorry to interrupt. 

     Madam Chair, Mr. Fogwill has an important meeting to attend, so I’m wonder if he could be excused.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, certainly.

     MR. MILLAR:  And the only reason I raise it is because he has to walk in front of everybody, and I don't want to think he’s paying the panel any disrespect. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Player, I guess you're the numbers guy, so maybe I can speak to you about this -- a bunch of you are numbers people, but I’ll start with you.  

     In this exhibit, you see the list of services under the heading “Category”, in the second column.  Do you see that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the same list of services as you see in the inter-corporate services agreement? 

     MR. BROWN:  We even numbered them the same. 

     MR. PLAYER:  It seems like it. 

     MR. BROWN:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the column beside it, “Responsibility”:  that's the name of the service recipient in each case.  You recognize who has responsibility there? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I didn't hear your answer. 

     MR. PLAYER:  It was affirmative.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry.  And the next column over, the “Total Cost Claimed”:  that’s the total RCAM amount for that category; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And those numbers match the agreement; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total at the bottom is the amount you're asking the Board to include in rates in test year 21314062; right.  

     MR. PLAYER:  That's right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Player, you're aware that, in appendix 6 of the report, Deloitte calculated the effectively hourly rate being charged for some of the services, based on 2,080 billable hours per year.  Were you aware of that?

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I was.  It's probably a bit low. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What is probably a bit low? 

     MR. PLAYER:  2,080 hours. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  Okay.  Well, I was actually going to ask Deloitte's about that, but let's talk about that.  Because, of course, you know, as a lawyer I docket time, and I have to supervise juniors who docket time.  And if you bill 2000 hours in a year, you work 7 a.m. to midnight, 6 days a week.  That's the rule, right?  So I don't understand why you think 2,080 is low.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Let me just get my calculator out, here.  

     That's only assuming a 40-hour week.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  It's 42.4-hour week, yes. 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think that’s a bit on the low -- that's why I said it’s a bit on the low side. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's billable hours; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Well, I don't know how you -- whether it is billable or not, I'm talking about hours that are spent by these people.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, don't employees spend time not doing things that are billable to others?  Lawyers certainly do.  I hear from sources that accountants do, as well.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I don't know.  We don't docket time and charge people, typically, but people that I work with, certainly, don't work 40-hour weeks.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why don't I go into that with Deloitte's.  

     Have you worked in a consulting business, or anything, where you had to docket time? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Definitely not, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You say that with relief.  

     MR. PLAYER:  That's right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But I just want to -- whatever -- whether 2,080 is right or not, we'll get to that later.  But, if you just look at that column, these are the numbers that Deloitte has estimated were the effective rates at 2,080 hours a year; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And ignore the next column, because that's for Deloitte's, the other day.  But you can calculate, based on the hourly rate, what EGD is being charged per FTE, simply by multiplying the hourly rate by 2.080; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the math there, in that next column, “Annual per Person”, that's the cost per person -- fully-loaded, the total billed-out amount per person in these various categories; is that fair?  Subject to check, obviously.  


MR. MEES:  Subject to check, certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your copy of this, I think the copy we sent you has all of the formulae in it, so you're welcome to check them.  


Now, the next column here says "FTEs Required".  And you will recall, won't you, I think, Mr. Player or Mr. Mees, that Deloitte, in their report, estimated in a number of places how many FTEs EGD would require to do that service internally; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And these are the numbers they estimated in the places where they did estimate them; is that correct?  Is that right?


MR. PLAYER:  Well, I don't know.  I'd have to check every one of those numbers, but I will take your word for it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that, subject to check?  You can check the reports --


MR. PLAYER:  That's fine.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the final column, "FTEs Provided", this is simply the total cost claimed divided by the annual per person to get the effective FTEs that have been provided.  That is, if you're billing out at $280,000 per person, and the total bill is 96,000, then you're providing about a third of a person, a third of an FTE; correct?


MR. PLAYER:  That math works.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you go down to the bottom, you see a total, and of the ones that they have estimated, the total FTEs provided is just under 15, total FTEs.  Now, that is obviously bits and pieces of a lot of people.  I get that, but the total is less than 15.  But you see that the cost of those very same services is $7 million, and so that means that per FTE, EGD is paying almost half-a-million dollars per person for those services.


I just wonder if you can help us understand why that would be the case?


MR. PLAYER:  I really don't have any context to compare that with.  You'd need to benchmark that against something, and it would need to be a comparable service with a comparable type of company.  I don't know whether that is a good number or a bad number, quite frankly.


MR. MEES:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, one of the things from your schedule that you would be able to see is that if we were to do it on a stand‑alone basis, we would require more FTEs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, absolutely.


MR. MEES:  So it is actually working, the fact that we have this shared service.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But we're not having a discussion about fair market value here.  We're having a discussion about cost here, and a cost of half-a-million dollars per person seems like a lot, doesn't it?


MR. MEES:  It may -- but I think you have to look at a couple of things.  First, again - and I will continue to say this - it is a fully-loaded cost, so it includes all compensation.  It includes all rent, stock options expense.  There is, you know, everything -- all employee expenses are also -- are included in there.  


And the other key thing to remember is that this only represents a few services, and if I look at some of these services, some of these require some very senior people on them.  You know, capital market financing and access, investor relations, investor services, they require senior people and they're going to cost a little bit more.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm just looking at line 25, "Investor Services", where those just over two people cost $761,000 each, and I figure those have to be very senior people; right?


MR. PLAYER:  But as you noted, they're not two individuals that are sitting there.  There's a bunch of pieces of FTEs; right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. PLAYER:  So you may have the CEO in there, you may have the CFO -- in fact, you would have them, and while you have only got a piece of them, yes, they're kind of expensive folks.


MR. GRUENDING:  As I mentioned before, investor services includes a plethora of items, third party services external to any kind of salaried analysis or hourly rate you might think, things like postage, printing costs, web site design.  You know, I could go on and on, stock watch services.  


So I find your analysis a bit misleading, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let's ask it a different way, then.  Mr. Player, you're the service recipient for 15 of the 43 services on this list, according to my calculation; is that about right?


MR. PLAYER:  Sure.  Go ahead.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total that EGD is paying for those is $5.9 million?


MR. PLAYER:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're also the head of the finance department, which has an all-in budget, including people and support costs, but excluding your risk management costs which are out of pocket, of $8.8 million, and you have 99 people for that; right?


MR. MEES:  But, again, Mr. Shepherd, the number that you just quoted is not a fully-loaded cost, is it not?  It's just the salaries and expenses of the employees, so it doesn't include benefit costs.  It doesn't include the rent; all of the other costs that are in other budgets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So in all these O&M costs that we're going to see over the next few weeks, those aren't the real costs of those services, are they, the internal costs?  Like, when we look at finance and we see $8.8 million in total costs; that's not right, is it?


MR. PLAYER:  That is only the costs that's charged to the department, because then you have the benefit costs on top of that, which would come through the HR O&M cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you had another $5.9 million in your budget, how many people could you hire, estimate?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. MEES:  It would depend, Mr. Shepherd, on ‑‑ if I was to look to hire a consultant, for example, to do some of these services, I can't hire a full-time consultant at less than $473,000 on a full-time basis, or I would have great difficulty, because the rates here are pretty low.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  That is interesting you would say that, because, of course, one of your options, one of your alternatives to getting these services from EI, is hiring consultants, right, and in some cases, like in HR, for example, that's something in which there's a market out there.  You can go to Towers Perrin or Mercer and you can get essentially the same services; right?


MS. DuPONT:  I would suggest that we already use those services, and we use them on a corporate‑wide basis and achieve significant savings, and, in fact, that is what we do.  We use Towers Perrin and Mercer and share that cost across the organization.  So the only variation that you're suggesting would be that Enbridge Gas Distribution would pay the full cost of that, or the ratepayers would.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But, Ms. DuPont, I guess I was just following up on Mr. Mees saying the alternative to paying EI is to hire consultants and they would be more expensive.  And that's one way you could do it; right?


MS. DuPONT:  Exactly.  It would be more expensive.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other way you could do is you could hire people internally; right?  


MS. DuPONT:  Are you suggesting ‑‑


MR. PLAYER:  You could, but you know what you miss out on there, is you miss out on the synergies if you're doing it across all the different business units.  If you go into the specific evidence, I think you will see that there are synergies with these things, particularly the IT service-type costs.  


You provide them across three, four business units.  You basically are doing the same thing, and -- I can't remember.  There was an example I used this morning.  Sorry, my head is absolutely shot.  It was like 500,000 to do it for the entire company, and it would have been $400,000 to do it for the business unit.  


It's just an example of the kinds of synergies that exist when we do these things.  You don't like to spend money for the sake of spending money.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have two other short areas of questions.  The first is...

     Let me just figure out how to ask this.  If I look at these various services, I see some that are services that are basically directly for EGD.  They're incremental costs that EI has to do something that EGD needs.  If EGD didn't need it, you wouldn't have to do it, or wouldn't have to spend as much on it; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Some of them are supplemental to what EGD does.  Is that what you mean?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's not what I mean.  What I mean is that EGD asks for those things because it needs those things internally?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Like certain aspects of HR, for example; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have another category of things, and we see this in some of the business development stuff and the investment stuff, et cetera, which are things that EI does for EI to benefit EI, but they also benefit EGD.  That's a different type of thing; right?  There's lots of those, too.


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  I'm trying to think of some of those services, I guess the first ones, that only benefited EGD, and, you know, I see so many more of them that benefit the whole company, all of the different business units.  But some of them also have a benefit to EI.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  All right, let's look at it from a different point of view.  You have some that are incremental costs to EI for doing something for EGD; right?


MR. PLAYER:  I kind of see it as it's being done for all of the business units and EI, if you're kind of going, you know, anything around sort of the investor relations and capital markets area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're not really incremental to EI?


MR. PLAYER:  In fact, they're doing it for us, versus if they were doing it and we weren't around?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PLAYER:  If there was no EGD?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PLAYER:  Oh, there would be definitely incremental expense, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In some areas?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In other areas they would be doing the same things, anyway; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  So then the last area I wanted to ask you questions about is you talked this morning, I think, to Mr. Thompson, about all the work involved in creating and implementing RCAM.  And my notes say, Mr. Player, that what you said is:   

“We are incurring costs in EGD that we are not recovering from ratepayers.”

     Do you recall that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  And that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the costs you’re incurring are based on CAM; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the amount you're not recovering is the difference between CAM and 13.5; right now. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Right, right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I thought -- I was hoping you were going to say RCAM. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Almost.  So when you designed and implemented this new system, your target was to ensure you could recover from ratepayers the amount you had to pay under CAM; right? 

     MR. MEES:  No way.  We didn't design it with that in mind, at all.  We designed it so that we can meet the Board's test, and we designed the service-based approach.   And so we really wanted to make sure we were paying for the services, and get recovery for the services, that we are getting.  

     So we’re -- we -- you know, to go back to some discussions we had earlier, when we went through the service schedules, we didn't have the costs.  We were just going through and doing the right thing.  We're trying to make sure we knew all the services.  

     And so it wasn't until the very end that we knew how much we were -- our actual RCAM amount was.  And so I don't think that's fair, to say that we were trying to get it up to as big a number as it can -- or up to a number like CAM.  That was not the objective, at all.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  The Board let you recover in rates 13.5 million.  You could have just lived with that, but you were paying EGD $24.2 million.  And the difference -10.7 million - was the reason why you did RCAM, so you could recover more; right? 

     MR. BROWN:  If I could speak?  I have been working on cost-allocation methodology development for three and a half years.  I played a role in CAM, which, unfortunately, didn't follow some of the regulatory requirements -- the Affiliate Relationship Code.  And from that experience, we developed what we feel is a methodology that best meets and conforms to the requirements -- the regulatory requirements and ARC.  It is service-based.  We’ve had it evaluated against the three-prong test.  We’ve done everything we can.  

     We did not know what this number would be.  We simply created a service-based model, without going down to time-docketing.  We agreed that time estimates were appropriate.  I think we've done all that we can to create a regulated cost-allocation methodology, given the rules.  

     This is the number.  Whether or not it was above or below CAM doesn't matter.  It is what it is, and we are bringing this forward for 2006's recovery.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player, it’s a big problem for you to have an amount you have to pay to an affiliate, but a lesser amount you're allowed to collect from ratepayers; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it is.     

    MR. SHEPHERD:  And we looked, earlier in the week, at the scorecard for EGD.  You were there for that, weren't you? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there's a net income figure on that scorecard? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, there is. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that net income figure is calculated using the actual amounts you have to pay to your affiliates, like CWLP or like EI; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but rates are set with lower amounts for those expenses recovered in rates; right?  So CWLP, you're 7-point-something million below, and 10.7 million below in corporate-cost allocations; right?

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for you to meet your scorecard targets for 2005, you have to meet the income level built into rates, plus an additional $7.2 million for customer care, and $10.7 million for corporate-cost allocations;  right?  You have to cover those amounts to meet your target. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  It’s very difficult to meet the requirements of the ratepayers in this province -- to provide those services and get sufficient recovery to do so.  It's very difficult.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So whereas -- what was the target for this year?  It’s 96 million?   Is that -- am I right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  What target is that? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The scorecard target for income. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, I wish.  I don't have a scorecard in front of me.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just a second, I’ll find it.  It's -- oh, it's 117.3 million.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we're just a little company.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  117.3 is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But, in order to get that -- so if that's 117.3 million, I assume that we have to deduct 10.7 and 7.2, to get what is actually built into rates. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Tax-effective, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s net -- oh, okay, that’s right.  The tax effect, yes.  

     So it's, like, 105 million, or something like that -- is built into rate?  110, maybe? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Probably. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you’ve got another 10 or 15, something like that, that you have to make, in addition to what's built into rates.  

     MR. PLAYER:  We’d like to, but -- yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the ROE you have to achieve, from a ratepayer point of view, in order to get your scorecard, is higher than the Board-approved ROE, isn't it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, it would be.        

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions.  Thanks.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd. 

     Mr. Millar, do you have questions for this panel? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm not -- will the panel be -- I'm not sure what the status was with Mr. Dingwall.  I understand he probably -- he may or may not still have questions, as of tomorrow. 

     MS. NOWINA:  My understanding was that, if we finished today, Mr. Dingwall would not -- 

     MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.

     MS. NOWINA:  -- pursue his right to ask questions of this panel. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Just one quick moment.  

[Board Staff confer]  

      MS. NOWINA:  While we're waiting, Ms. Persad, can you give me a sense of how long your re-direct will take? 

     MS. PERSAD:  I don't expect to take more than -- definitely, not more than 10 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, one very quick question.  Mr. Battista and I are just discussing it, so I will give it a go here.  It’s really more in the way of clarification.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:  

     MR. MILLAR:  If we're to assume that the Board approve the 21.3 million in corporate allocation costs, what happens during 2006, if EI actually incurs less than the estimated cost provided for particular services?  And I guess the follow-up question is: Is the underspending shared with EGDI – sorry - the difference?  

     MR. PLAYER:  The -- it would -- if it expended less in a year, then there would be no change in rates.  But the adjustment would take place in the amount charged in the following year.  I don't mean that the adjustment is -- I mean, whatever that new charge is, in the following year, would reflect what the real costs are.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So the full underspending would remain with the EI shareholders? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Persad?  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you. 

     If I could just take a minute.  I just have to confer about one point.  

     Thank you.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS. PERSAD:  

     MS. PERSAD:  I may have to do some shuffling as I go back through the testimony today, so I apologize for that.  But if I could start, first, with Exhibit K9.5, that Mr. Shepherd referred you to, a moment ago.  Those are the hourly rates derived from the corporate-cost allocations.   

     MR. MEES:  We have that.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And if I ask you to look at the “FTEs Required” column, and to do some quick math for me.  What would be the minimum number of FTEs required pursuant to this chart?  And I guess this would be the number of FTEs required that would have come from the Deloitte report.  Can you confirm that for me, please?


MR. MEES:  For those services shown in the "FTEs Required" column, I see that there is 36 FTEs.  That would be the minimum amount required for those services, as compared to the 14.86 shown in the "FTEs Provided" column.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  To move on to another exhibit that was referred to - and it's in the pre-filed evidence - it's the inter-corporate service agreement at A6, tab 1, schedule 1, and it would be section 10 of that agreement.  That would be page 6 of 132 of appendix 1 of that exhibit.  


So this is the confidentiality provision of the agreement that Mr. Shepherd referred you to.  My question is simply this.  It's whether the panel can confirm to me whether any customer information or confidential information, as that term would be described or defined in the Affiliate Relationships Code, is provided to Enbridge Inc. with respect to the corporate services?


MR. PLAYER:  Absolutely none.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  Now, going back further into Mr. Thompson's cross‑examination earlier this afternoon, if I could refer you to Exhibit K6.4?


MR. MEES:  We have that exhibit.


MS. PERSAD:  Yes.  And also to the wording from the settlement proposal that Mr. Thompson referred to, and the best reference that I could pull up is under tab 3 of the VECC compendium.  That's Exhibit K9.2, and it's at issue 9.1 regarding the 2005 O&M budget.


Now, Mr. Thompson made a remark that you weren't given a chance to respond to, and it was to the effect that he was going to leave for argument whether the attitude or I guess the decision to pay $24.2 million out of the column 5 from Exhibit K6.4 for 2005 corporate cost allocation was a matter of defiance.


And I am wondering, in responding to that, if you could refer to the wording from the settlement proposal, the second-to-last sentence that reads:

"The parties agree that the O&M expense allowance of $286.5 million is an envelope amount that the company can spend as it wishes."


Do you have any comment about that?


MR. PLAYER:  It would certainly seem from that wording that it was an envelope amount and didn't indicate specifically with respect to the cost allocation.  As opposed to a defiance, I would say it is probably more of a compliance with the contract that we have to pay that.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, sticking still with that wording from the settlement proposal, and Mr. Thompson was referring to the last sentence in that:

"For the purpose of further budget reviews, the company accepts the intervenors' request to allocate the O&M budget as is shown."


And then he did refer you to that table.  I don't need you to pull that up, but I am wondering if the panel has any comment about whether it would have agreed that this would be an apples-to-apples comparison or whether there would have been any difficulty with comparisons between the amounts for 2005 and 2006?


MR. MEES:  As we were going to be bringing forward a new methodology in the 2006 rate case, as is indicated in the settlement agreement, I think we would have had great difficulty if we were ‑‑ if there wasn't any understanding that there may not be a direct comparison between the 13-1/2 and the new methodology.  I think we would have difficulty if we had to include something like that in the settlement proposal.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Now, still sticking with the subject matter of the settlement proposal, Mr. Thompson indicated that intervenors were supportive of the 13.5 million that was recommended by Deloitte.


In the company's opinion, were the intervenors actually supportive of the 13.5 million, or was that a matter of settlement?


MR. MEES:  I don't want to speak on behalf of the intervenors, but, you know, it was a settlement.  And I'm sure they would have liked to have a lower number, but it was a compromise settlement and settled at 13-1/2-million dollars.


MS. PERSAD:  I just have a couple of more questions.


Now, going way back to the first cross-examiner, Mr. De Vellis, his cross‑examination, I need to refer you to his ‑‑ sorry, just a moment, please.


Actually, I am going to skip that question, because that was already answered.  Sorry.  Yes, I would like to refer you to School's Interrogatory I18‑21, and that's the table of changes that were made to the corporate cost allocation methodology amounts, et cetera, that has been referred to earlier.


 My question is just simply one of clarification, whether the panel could clarify the types of changes that that table shows, and just with reference to whether they refer to numeric changes, changes in the drafts, the time estimates, or what exactly are the types of changes that were made that are shown in that table?  And would this be all of the changes that were made in the negotiations?


MR. BROWN:  To the best of my recollection, this table summarizes the ‑‑ initially, in the first four columns, only the percentages that -- originating with the time studies of each of the 129 people providing services, as they filled out their time studies.  The change that, as a result of their manager's review, along with Deloitte, so adjusting for potential future events that, maybe, the manager knew about in 2006, that, maybe, the employees hadn't recognized.  So the first four columns recognize the changes that occurred in Calgary, between the time-study participant, and their manager and Deloitte's.  

     The last four columns were the result of the reviews by the service recipients and Deloitte's, and any changes that occurred in Toronto, without the participation of Enbridge Inc.  

     It is, I think, Mike -- to the best of my knowledge, a summary of all of the changes to the time estimates, in terms of percentages.  A lot of these changes are the result of moving costs out of “all” - so, where a service would benefit all entities, including EGD - into the allocation to "other", which means that EGD would get none, for various reasons.  And maybe that's best answered by either Mike or Deloitte's.  

     MR. MEES:  I'm not sure that really is necessary for the response to your answer.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     One last question.  There was -- it was discussed more than once -- the prudence of Enbridge Inc.'s overall costs.  I'm wondering if the panel can comment on what kind of prudence review -- or what kind of process goes into the development of the Enbridge Inc. budget, and whether there is any external scrutiny of those costs.  

     MS. DuPONT:  I could comment to begin with, Madam Chair.   

     The Enbridge Inc. budgeting process is very rigorous.  It starts about six months before the end of the year, and reviews begin to take place -- in fact, reviews are taking place right now for 2006.  

     The process is, of course, designed to make sure there is no "fat" in the budgeting process, and that we, at the same time, are providing the appropriate services to our customers -- our ratepayers, and so on.  

     The budget is “scrubbed” -- I think is a term that would be familiar to people in this room.  And then, finally, taken before the boards around the first week of December, for further scrutiny.  And then approved at that time.  

     The roll-up of the various budget elements is done in the departments.  And so Mr. Schultz is responsible for bringing forward the Enbridge Gas Distribution budget, which becomes part of the overall piece that goes to the boards.  

     MR. GRUENDING:  If I could, maybe, supplement Ms. DuPont's answer in respect of Enbridge Inc.'s overall corporate budget.  

     It is a bottom-up zero-based budgeting process, beginning with manager-by-manager costs, including workforce plan.  They roll up and are reviewed and critiqued by supervising staff, including director, VP, senior VP, CEO, multiple iterations, over months.  And, ultimately, the board of directors is required to approve that budget.  So it is a very rigorous process.  There are a number of natural forces that cause that budget to be highly, highly scrutinized.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  That's all I have.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  

     That finishes this day, and this panel.  Thank you very much, panel, for your efforts today - it’s a long day - and for the clarity of your responses.  

     Thank you, too, our transcriber, today, and every day.  She does a great job, and the quality of her work is evidenced by the fact that we rarely notice that she is here.  So thank you, very much.  

     We will resume tomorrow, with our second panel on cost allocation, at 9 o'clock. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Madam Chair, for tomorrow, if we don't finish -- just to be clear, if we don't finish panel number 2 tomorrow, what happens on Monday? 

     MS. PERSAD:  We would put in another O&M panel.  Operations, strategic -- Operations and Strategic and Key Accounts.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  And then the RCAM panel would go Tuesday? 

     MS. PERSAD:  Or later that day -- later on Monday. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  Later on Monday? 

     MS. PERSAD:  Yes -- sorry, later on Tuesday.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Is that clear, Mr. Battista?  

     MR. BATTISTA:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you. 

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you for accommodating us by staying late.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:00 p.m.
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